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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of 31st March, 2011, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$1,111,421,000
(2010: HK$886,335,000), representing an increase of 25.4% as compared
with the corresponding period last year. Included in the amount of turnover
was HK$487,622,000 (2010: HK$294,901,000) generated by the cosmetics
business, representing a significant increase of 65.4% over the same period
last year. Turnover of the fashion business reached HK$623,799,000 (2010:
HK$591,434,000), representing an increase of 5.5% as compared with the same
period in the preceding year. The gross profit ratio of the Group as a whole
decreased from 57.3% (as restated) of last year to 54.6% for the current year,
which was mainly due to increase of cosmetics business sales with relatively
lower gross profit ratio. Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders was
HK$66,736,000, representing a boost of 132.7% as compared to HK$28,677,000
in 2010 (as restated). During the year, the segment results of fashion business
recorded a profit of HK$47,774,000, representing a remarkable increase of
90.2% as compared with a profit of HK$25,112,000 for last year (as restated).
Cosmetics business continued to contribute profits to the Group and recorded
a segment profit of HK$25,143,000 during the year, representing a significant
increase of 55.2% over that of the corresponding period last year, which was
HK$16,201,000. In overall, there was a significant increase in contribution of
both fashion business and cosmetics business to the Group, and the operating
profit margin has increased 1.8 percentage points to 6.3% from last year (2010:
4.5%). Besides, the increase in fair value of investment properties amounted to
HK$3,460,000 for the year (2010: HK$6,660,000).

As of 31st March, 2011, turnover of the fashion business amounted to
HK$623,799,000 (2010: HK$591,434,000), representing an increase of 5.5% over
the previous year, and accounting for 56.1% of the Group’s total turnover.
As for segment results, that of the fashion business recorded a profit of
HK$47,774,000, representing a significant increase of 90.2% as compared with
HK$25,112,000 of last year (as restated). During the year, the gross profit margin
of fashion business also increased from 64.5% of last year (as restated) to 66.7%,
representing an increase of 2.2 percentage points.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement TRREE

As of 31st March, 2011, the Group had altogether 70 outlets in Hong Kong
and Macau (2010: 72 outlets). During the period under review, turnover
from the Hong Kong and Macau market amounted to HK$367,558,000 (2010:
HK$339,453,000), representing an 8.3% increase over last year and accounted
for 58.9% of the total turnover of fashion business of the Group. During the
year, the turnover of comparable outlets also recorded an increase of 8.0%.

Turnover of the retail business in Taiwan for the year was HK$109,780,000 (2010:
HK$111,634,000), representing a decrease of 1.7% over the corresponding
period last year and amounted to 17.6% of the total turnover of fashion
business of the Group. As of 31st March, 2011, the Group had 51 outlets in
Taiwan (2010: 55 outlets).
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During the year, turnover of the retail business in Singapore increased 14.5%
over the same period last year, to HK$55,580,000 (2010: HK$48,557,000),
representing 8.9% of the total turnover of fashion business of the Group. As of
31st March, 2011, the Group had 16 outlets in Singapore (2010: 17 outlets).

During the period under review, turnover of the China market amounted to
HK$90,881,000 (2010: HK$91,790,000), representing a decrease of 1.0% over the
corresponding period last year, and accounted for 14.6% of the total turnover
of fashion business of the Group. As of 31st March, 2011, the number of Veeko
and Wanko outlets in China was 108 (2010: 109). Commencing from financial
year 2009/2010, the Group has been closing some local outlets that borne fixed
rentals but brought unsatisfactory benefits, and there was write off of once-
off expenses or compensation expenditure. Although the results of fashion
business in China for the year was still affected by the aforementioned, most of
the loss-making outlets to be closed down had completed their restructuring
during the year, and the Group will focus on the re-opening of outlets without
fixed rentals burden in department stores. Thus, it created a stronger and
healthier condition than ever for the overall business in China and laying a more
solid foundation for future development.

As of 31st March, 2011, the Group had established 45 cosmetics outlets (2010:
37 outlets), which were mainly situated in Hong Kong and Macau, under
the brand of Colourmix. For the year, cosmetics retail business of the Group
recorded a turnover of HK$487,622,000 (2010: HK$294,901,000), representing
a significant increase of 65.4% over last year. The turnover of comparable
outlets also increased by approximately 16.2% over the corresponding period
last year. The gross profit margin of cosmetics business for the year was 39.1%,
representing a decrease of 3.8 percentage points as compared to 42.9% of last
year. As of 31st March, 2011, the cosmetics business recorded a segment profit
of approximately HK$25,143,000, which represented a significant increase of
55.2% when compared with that of HK$16,201,000 for the same period last year,
demonstrating a significant growth in this business.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement TRREE

In respect of fashion business, through consolidation of plant facilities in
Mainland China and increased investment in advanced production machinery
equipment in the previous year, the overall production effectiveness was
enhanced to offset the rise in raw materials price and other production costs.
In addition, through strengthening product designs, and providing popular
products with higher profitability, the gross profit margin of fashion business
for the year increased 2.2 percentage points to 66.7%. Regarding the outlet
network expansion, the number of outlets in Hong Kong and Macau, Taiwan
and Singapore will maintain at an approximate level to the existing number. In
the future, the Group will focus on the growth of sales of comparable outlets,
and further raise the gross profit margin by reducing production cost and
markdowns, so as to mitigate the pressure from the increase in rental cost.
Regarding the fashion business in China, starting from financial year 2009/2010,
the Group has been successively closing some outlets that borne fixed rentals
but brought unsatisfactory benefits. Although the turnover went down as the
number of outlets decreased, the negative effects posed by these loss-making
outlets on results alleviated accordingly, and the measures implemented has
been yielding results during the year. As most of the loss-making outlets to be
closed down have completed their restructuring during the year, the Group will
focus on the re-opening of outlets without fixed rentals burden in department
stores, thus creating a stronger and healthier condition than ever for the overall
business in China and laying a more solid foundation for future development. It
is expected that there will be a significant increase in the number of outlets in
China and an increase in the contribution from the business generated in China
to the Group's profit. In the future, the management will deploy more resources
for the development of the retail market in China.

The cosmetics business has been contributing to the Group’s profit
continuously since the financial year 2007/2008, and the segment profit for the
year even surged drastically by 55.2% to HK$25,143,000. The overall turnover
has increased 65.4% over last year, and turnover from comparable outlets also
recorded an increase of 16.2%. As at the end of this financial year, the number
of outlets reached 45, principally located at Hong Kong and Macau. For the year,
gross profit margin of cosmetics business was 39.1%, representing a decrease of
3.8 percentage points from 42.9% of last year. It was mainly attributable to the
opening of influential outlets in tourist attractions in Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Granville Road and Causeway Place, etc. Since which Colourmix has enhanced
its position and image gradually in the market and become well known among

tourists from Mainland China and hence increased its popularity, but the gross
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profit margin of those outlets would be lower in the starting period of their
businesses. It is believed that the gross profit margin of such will rise after the
tourists becoming familiar to the products with exclusive distributorship. In the
future, the Group will speed up its pace in opening outlets, expand its retail
network actively and to increase sales of comparable outlets. For the year, sales
of exclusively distributed branded products accounted for about 39% of total
sales of the cosmetics business. In 2011, the Group successfully obtained the
exclusive distributorship of several well-known skin care product brands and
those brands received satisfactory response since their launch at Colourmix
outlets. The Group will keep on enriching the product portfolio, increasing
the variety of cosmetic products with exclusive distributorship and trendy
cosmetic products, and training employees to provide quality and professional
services. In addition, the Group has also launched an online shopping service
at the end of year 2010 in order to further diversify its business. Looking
forward to the performance of cosmetics business in the coming year, during
the period from April to May 2011, the sales of comparable outlets increased
by 17.7% over the corresponding period last year, maintaining the momentum
of the double-digit growth during the year 2010/2011, and the gross profit
margin was approximately 40.2%. The management is confident about the
future development of the cosmetics business and will step up its speed of
expanding outlet network. Apart from Hong Kong and Macau, the Group is also
considering the feasibility of developing cosmetics retailing business in China.

V EEKO"INFRERNATGIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement T/RREE

LIQUIDITY & FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s working capital increased from HK$192,664,000 (restated) as at 31st
March, 2010 to HK$359,212,000 for the year end.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances (mainly
in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi) amounted to HK$119,081,000 (31st
March, 2010: HK$32,549,000). The outstanding bank borrowings and overdraft
(mainly in Hong Kong Dollars) amounted to HK$17,388,000 (31st March, 2010:
HK$61,056,000) whereas the total borrowings was HK$18,062,000 (31st March,
2010: HK$61,981,000). The capital expenditure for the year was HK$22,745,000
(31st March, 2010: HK$28,515,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the current ratio was 5.97 times (31st
March, 2010: 2.59 times) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 0.03 (31st
March, 2010: 0.15) which was calculated based on the Group’s total borrowings
of HK$18,062,000 (31st March, 2010: HK$61,981,000) and the total equity of
HK$560,536,000 (31st March, 2010 (restated): HK$414,465,000).

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group had banking facilities amounting to
HK$164,318,000 (31st March, 2010: HK$144,902,000), of which HK$37,123,000
(31st March, 2010: HK$76,611,000) was utilised by the Group. The management
believes that existing financial resources will be sufficient to meet future
expansion plans and, if necessary, the Group will be able to obtain additional
financing on favorable terms.

Capital Structure

On 20th September, 2010 and 24th December, 2010, the Company issued
and allotted 150,000,000 and 100,000,000 new shares respectively to certain
independent third parties. The net proceed of the subscription amounted to
HK$83.4 million in total has been received in cash and was retained as general
working capital for the purpose of expanding cosmetics retail business in Hong
Kong and Macau and opening counters at department stores for the fashion
retail business in the Mainland China.
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Foreign Exchange Exposure

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency purchases, mainly
in Euro and United States Dollar, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 26% (2010: 18%) of purchases costs are in foreign currencies
for the year. The management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk by entering into forward
contracts should the need arises.

Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the amount of assets pledged by the Group
to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group was
HK$48,401,000 (31st March, 2010 (restated): HK$66,702,000).

Contingent Liabilities

At 31st March, 2011, the Company had provided guarantees of HK$171,189,000
(31st March, 2010: HK$158,408,000) to certain banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company of which
HK$36,909,000 (31st March, 2010: HK$76,398,000) was utilised by the
subsidiaries.

Staff & Remuneration Policies

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had 3,197 employees (31st March,
2010: 3,707). The Group mainly determines staff remuneration (including
insurance and medical benefits) in accordance with the industry’s practices. The
Group also implemented a reward scheme for its staff based on their individual
performances. In addition to their basic remuneration and welfare, some key
employees were granted share options as reward and incentive to enhance
their loyalty to the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all the
employees for their devotion, contribution and diligence and my deepest
gratitude to all the shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners
for their continuous support. | sincerely hope that all of you will continue to
contribute to the success of the Group.

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011
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Directors’ Report EBBRSE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2011 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 32 of the annual
report.

An interim dividend of HK0.6 cent per share amounting to HK$11,509,000 was
declared for the year. Out of the amount, HK$2,996,000 was settled by way of
cash dividend and the remaining amount was settled by way of scrip to the
shareholders during the year. The directors now recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK1.1 cents per share to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 15th September, 2011, amounting to
HK$23,811,000, in cash and the retention of the remaining profit for the year.

Investment Properties

Investment properties of the Group were revalued at 31st March, 2011. The
increase in fair values of HK$3,460,000 has been credited directly to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Details of this and other movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the investment properties of the Group is set out on page 104 of
the annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group spent HK$22,745,000 on the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment for the purpose of expanding the Group’s business.

Details of this and other movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves of the Company

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to its shareholders as at 31st March, 2011 comprise of contributed surplus
amounting to HK$53,135,000 (2010: HK$53,135,000) and retained profits
amounting to HK$29,951,000 (2010: HK$17,407,000) provided that, after
distribution, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

The directors of the Company during the year and up to date of this report
were:

Executive directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Yang Wei Tak
Mr. Yeung Wing Kay
Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John
(appointed on 24th March, 2011)
Mr. Cheng Chung Hoo
(deceased on 25th December, 2010)

In accordance with clauses 108 and 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, Mr. Yeung Wing Kay and Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Term of Office of Independent Non-executive Directors

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors is the
period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years, commencing on 1st April, 1999
which should be renewable for each term of three years until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Directors’ Report EBBRSE

Directors, Senior Management Biographies

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny, aged 54, is the chairman of the Group. He
established the Group in 1984 and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and formulation of corporate policies of the Group. Mr. Cheng has
over 27 years of experience in the manufacturing and retail business. Mr. Cheng
was awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of Hongkong in November 2001.
He is the husband of Ms. Lam Yuk Sum.

Ms. LAM Yuk Sum, aged 51, is the chief executive officer of the Group
and responsible for the overall strategic planning as well as the Group's
merchandising management and design and product development. She joined
the Group in 1987 and has over 24 years of experience in fashion design and
retail business. She is the wife of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny.

Mr. YANG Wei Tak, aged 80, is an independent non-executive director. He has
over 40 years of experience in international trading and has been a managing
director of an import and export company over 30 years.

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay, aged 58, is an independent non-executive director. He
is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and has been a partner of Yeung
& Cheuk, a firm of Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong for 18 years. He
graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a degree of Bachelor
of Social Sciences.

Mr. FOK Kam Chu, John, aged 61, is an independent non-executive director.
He holds a master degree in business administration and a bachelor degree
in laws. He is an associate of the Institute of Financial Accountants in United
Kingdom, a registered financial planner of the Society of Registered Financial
Planners in Hong Kong and in Mainland China as well as a certified risk planner
of The Institute of Crisis & Risks Management in Hong Kong. Mr. Fok has about
40 years’ experience in banking and management. Currently, he serves as an
independent non-executive director, a member of each of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of Dynamic Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. WONG Chi Ying, aged 42, is the financial controller of the Group and also
the secretary of the Company. Prior to joining the Group in July 1996, Ms. Wong
worked in an international accounting firm for about four years. She holds a
bachelor degree in accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. She
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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EEHINER
Date of grant

ZEREEELAZAR

21st September, 2004

ZEERENATAR

16th August, 2006

ZERBEAENAR

16th August, 2006

“RREEAATA

4th June, 2007

ZEZLEAANH

4th June, 2007

ZFRBNEARFTAR

18th June, 2008

ZZZNEARTAH

18th June, 2008
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To B b4
Vesting
period

“RRWERA R
SRBMELA
21st September, 2004
to 20th September, 2008

ZREANENATARER
“RF\ENATLA
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2008

ZEEAENATARE
“E-FENTIA
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2010

ZRBLEANINHE
ZER-FEAAZN
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2010

CRREEAANEE
ZE-CEAAZEH
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2012

ZRBENEAATARE
“F AR LN
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2011

“EFNEAATARE
“ER-ZEXATEH
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2013

Share Option Scheme

Particulars of the share option scheme adopted by the Group are set out in note

28 to the consolidated financial statements.

No options were granted to the directors or substantial shareholders of the
Company during the year or under the share option scheme.

The following table discloses details of options held by employees of the Group
and movements in such holdings during the year ended 31st March, 2011:

et 2l
Exercisable
period

SRRNEAA 1 E
SR -RERA
21st September, 2008
to 20th September, 2010

“RFNENATABE
ZR-FENATLH
16th August, 2008
to 15th August, 2010

ZE-BE)N\ATARE
ZE-CHEATLA
16th August, 2010
to 15th August, 2012

ZE-FEANINHE
ZZ-ZHEAAZH
4th June, 2010
to 3rd June, 2012

ZR-CHEANINHEE
ZE-NEARAZH
4th June, 2012
to 3rd June, 2014

ZE-—EAATNRE
ZE-ZEAATLH
18th June, 2011
to 17th June, 2013

ZRZEAATARE
“ER-LEAATER
18th June, 2013
to 17th June, 2015

IR AT O
Exercise
price

per share

0.2550¥ 70
HK$0.2550

0.2052¥ 70
HK$0.2052

0.2052¥70
HK$0.2052

0.1860% 70
HK$0.1860

0.1860 7
HK$0.1860

0.2500¥ 70
HK$0.2500

0.25003 70
HK$0.2500

REZ—%4E

AR
Z Btk
Balance
at
1.4.2010

2,000,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

13,900,000

13,900,000

500,000

500,000

T4 BE By
(i
Exercised
during
the year

(2,000,000)

(1,200,000)

(800,000)

(11,500,000)

=
BT
W AR A7 B8
Outstanding
at

31.3.2011

400,000

2,400,000

13,900,000

500,000

500,000



o Bl 4 A
B HH Vesting
Date of grant period
ZER-RE-AAH “E-FE-ARHE
—F—-—FE-HJ1H
6th January, 2010 6th January, 2010

to 5th January, 2011

ZR-RE-AAH “R-RE-ANRE
ZR-ZHE-ALH
6th January, 2010 6th January, 2010

to 5th January, 2012

ZR-RE-AAH ZR-REANEE
ZFZ—=F—J11H
6th January, 2010 6th January, 2010

to 5th January, 2013

ZR-RE-ANH “R-BE-AARE
ZEZ-NE-ALH
6th January, 2010 6th January, 2010

to 5th January, 2014

TRAAHE B o W ARAT R 2 0 SRR AT R
T BEAT 2 B 48 98 %519,900,000/8 - &
HR A 1 4% T AT - I TR A 4R 1 S e o
W ARAT B 2 S SR AEAG A A R H AR AR B
AT A 410.9% ©
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

R S 215 R4
WA—H AN =ZA=+-H
IR AT 08 ZEitk frfE AT B
17 0 Exercise Balance Exercised Outstanding
Exercisable price at during at
period per share 1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011
I Y 0.1562i 78 700,000 (700,000) =
“E-WE-ALH HK$0.1562
6th January, 2011
to 5th January, 2014
“E-TE-AREE 0.1562i 78 700,000 - 700,000
“E-nE-HLH HK$0.1562
6th January, 2012
to 5th January, 2015
CE-EE-ARAE 0.1562i 78 800,000 - 800,000
ZE-AE-ALH HK$0.1562
6th January, 2013
to 5th January, 2016
Z“E-NE-ARAE 0.1562i 78 800,000 - 800,000
“E-bE-ALH HK$0.1562
6th January, 2014
to 5th January, 2017
36,200,000 (16,200,000 20,000,000

At the date of this report, the total number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of the outstanding options is 19,900,000 as adjusted for options exercised
subsequent to the reporting period. The outstanding options represent
approximately 0.9% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of

this report.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and

As at 31st March, 2011, the interests of the directors and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:

AN B BT

B A | O3 b

s RN £ Percentage of

EEMmE A the issued

/i1 Number of issued share capital

WA Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company
W g S e Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny :E UN 1,172,819,535 54.18%
Founder (M k)
(Note)
Ha A A
Beneficiary owner 30,400,000 1.40%
1,203,219,535 55.58%
MEF L+ Ms. Lam Yuk Sum fEatZEWmA 1,172,819,535 54.18%
Beneficiary of Trust (M)
(Note)
IEECE/ DN
Beneficial owner 205,958,839 9.51%
1,378,778,374 63.69%

MifaE : % %1,172,819,5358 4 HiSilver
Crown Profits Limited ([ Silver
Crown]) BEZ5 BEF  Silver Crown
JBe 4 7% 2 REA5 5E6) Cheng Family
Trust M2 REZ 2 NI > %%
REAR FEM 32 25 N A5G g8 S0 o A e
MERLEMRBERE -

B B3O i 8 Kol T & DR RETE R
ACEE A I 4 ] B AR B
bho R ZF——EEZAZ—H O A
N ) 18 I R B R S 35200 T 7 B 2
XA I A Bk > e A S T 2R A
F IR P 2 B > R R E A
—h B S A A A ) % A A A W 3 (O
Z5 B B kA 5 SR 2 A 3%) A ~ A
Bl Je Ay B A 2 v e MR o

Note: These 1,172,819,535 shares are beneficially owned by Silver Crown Profits

Limited (“Silver Crown”). The shares in Silver Crown are in turn held by the
trustee of the J Cheng Family Trust, a discretionary trust, the discretionary
objects of which include family members of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum.

Other than disclosed above and certain nominee shares in subsidiaries held
by certain directors in trust for the Group, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31st March, 2011, as required to be
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

Appointment of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

No contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.
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Ji%& 5 44 1
Name of shareholder

Silver Crown

Well Feel Group Limited
(“Well Feel”)

HSBC International Trustee
Limited (“HSBC International”)

Wik

Silver CrownZ 2 # TV 847 B AR FHWell Feel
1 > iWell Feel JJHSBC International Z 4
WS o W o MR 2R B S AR AR ) 5 1 5B
ZBLE > Well Feel JZHSBC International# H
WEARAE Y 3% 25 f Silver Crown i RE 25 2 B
A A ] R B RS o

FEEP KA

AR A S 1) 1K Bk T T4 1 4
TR R B A 4R ) TR & P BT AN AR AR B
B > 3 T A0 T AR B [ e A A R S A T A
B R IH30% °

FH P PR\ e
BEA AR A W) BB AT IR AR5 %R _E AT ] Ji
R > PR e AR AR A4 P T K % ) 3 O
R JBE A v B A AT o R B

Substantial Shareholders

Other than disclosed above under the section headed “Directors’ Interests in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and other substantial shareholders’
interests disclosed in the following table, at 31st March, 2011, the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO showed that the Company had not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

AN B BT

A 4 b

PR BT s Percentage of the

54y Number of issued issued share capital

Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

HAHEA A 1,172,819,535 54.18%

Beneficial owner

el Z RS (M aE) 1,172,819,535 54.18%

Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note)
HFEN (W at) 1,172,819,535 54.18%

Trustee (Note)

Note:

The entire issued share capital of Silver Crown was held by Well Feel which in turn
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International. By virtue of the provisions
of Part XV of the SFO, each of Well Feel and HSBC International was deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company in which Silver Crown was interested.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases and total sales for
the year respectively.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had an interest in the share capital of any of the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.

V EEKO"INFRERNATHIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED




15 S i

A ) Y EAR A0 R s B B R B (AR R
A3 2 ) ) W) > S AR A
] 5 ZE A% ) 1 A 4 W BT R R A S 8 B
WL o

Bl B~ B LA 20 ] Y
b i i %

TRACHEJE 7Y » 2%l e HAE 7 i 4 7 1
S~ th 5 RO 24 i 7
I o

P < B3R

74 S5 T e A A BN L 2 T SR o I 2%
HEmRiE S 2 %8 - GEREIHET -

LR & el U E AR R R
B4y -£3 RN VIES VR -4 &
5 T BB AR O

AR ] BER AN JE B RE ST > AR B
A AR IR B R T A B A
T U A A S A M 28

S5 oy A I

AN E AT BB B > ELt 2
o AAFRERE-R-—HEZH =4
FI k28 0 4 B2 e B AR Ok — ELAR
PR N RFER R

A% B i
AR T R OB AR K B e >
DA ) o 5 B T A
e -

R
5
U8 & SC

Gk R ——FEANA WA

Directors’ Report EBBHRGE

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performances and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors
and eligible employees and details of the scheme is set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float throughout the year ended 31st March, 2011 and up to the date of this
report.

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company hereby presents this
Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended
31st March, 2011.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) are applied and
implemented is explained in this Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Practices

Recognising the importance of a publicly listed company’s responsibilities
to enhance its transparency and accountability, the Company is committed
to maintain a high standard of corporate governance in the interests of its
shareholders. The Company devotes to best practice on corporate governance,
and to comply to the extent practicable, with the CG Code.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with most of the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31st
March, 2011 except certain deviations from the code provisions, details of which
will be explained below.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance practices
in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with
the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and investors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and promoting
the success of the Company. This is achieved by the setting up of corporate
and strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring and evaluations of
operating activities and financial performance of the Company.

All the directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the management. The
Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company, including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.
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Corporate Governance Report EXERRES

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the
advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior management, with
a view to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the Company
are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the
Company. The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of Board decisions. The Board periodically
reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to entering into any
significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have to obtain Board approval.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of five members. Among them,
two are executive directors and three are independent non-executive directors.

The executive directors, with their intimate knowledge of the business,
take on the primary responsibility for leadership of the Company whilst the
independent non-executive directors bring in independent judgment and
insights from a broader perspective to the Company’s business in terms of
strategy, business performance, resources and standards of conduct.

The Board comprises the following directors:

Executive directors:
Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny

(Chairman of the Board and member of the Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum

(Chief Executive Officer and member of the Remuneration Committee)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Yeung Wing Kay

(Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Yang Wei Tak

(member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John

(member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee)

A brief description of the background of each director is presented on page 13

of this annual report under the heading of “Directors’ Report”.
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The list of directors (by category) is set out under the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this annual report and is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors are expressly identified
in all corporate communications of the Company. Save that Mr. Cheng Chung
Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum are husband and wife, there are no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships among members of the
Board.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Company had not at all times
met the requirement of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors owing to the pass away of
Mr. Cheng Chung Hoo on 25th December, 2010. Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John was
subsequently appointed as an independent non-executive director and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee on 24th
March, 2011. Mr. Yeung Wing Kay was appointed as the chairman of each of
the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the Company on 24th
March, 2011. However, the Company has at all times met the requirement of the
Listing Rules of having at least one of the independent non-executive directors
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive director in respect of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the Company considers all such
directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division in the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
which are performed by different individuals. This ensures a balanced
distribution of power and authority.

Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for the
leadership for and management of the Board, ensuring the effective functioning
of the Board and encouraging directors to make full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs as well as ensuring that all significant and key issues are
discussed and where required, resolved by the Board in a timely manner.

Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is responsible
for the day-to day management of the Company. She is responsible for
implementing the Company’s strategy, objectives and policies approved and
delegated by the Board with the assistance of the senior management.

The husband and wife relationship between Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum does not impair the balance of power between the Board and
the management as their duties and responsibilities are clearly defined and set
out in writing.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The Company has not set up a nomination committee and the Board as a whole
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors and
monitoring the succession planning of directors.

To maintain high quality of the Board with a balance of skill and experience, the
Board identifies individuals who fulfill criteria of the Company. When assessing
the quality of the individual, the Board makes reference to his experience,
qualification, integrity and other relevant factors.

Each of the directors of the Company is engaged on a service agreement (for
executive director) or an appointment letter (for independent non-executive
director) for a term of 3 and 2 years respectively. The appointment of executive
director may be terminated by either party by giving three months’ prior
written notice.

Besides, there are also procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors laid down in the Company'’s Articles of Association (the
“Company’s Articles”). Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the Company’s annual general meetings and any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the next following general meeting or the next following annual general
meeting, as the case may be, of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting.

Accordingly, Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, Mr. Yeung Wing Kay and Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John
shall retire at the 2011 annual general meeting (“AGM") and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election pursuant to Articles 108 and 112 of the Company’s
Articles. The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming 2011 AGM of the Company. The Company’s
circular, to be sent together with this annual report, contains detailed
information of the retiring directors standing for re-election.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John, the newly
appointed director, received induction on the first occasion of his appointment
so as to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
Such induction was supplemented by meetings with senior management of the
Company.

The existing directors are continually updated with developments in the legal
and regulatory regime and the business and market environments to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Board And Committee Meetings

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing, considering and approving
the financial and operating performance, business development and prospects
of the Company. During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Company held
a total of thirteen Board meetings, four of which were regular meetings for
reviewing and approving the quarterly financial and operating performance, the
final results for the year ended 31st March, 2010 and interim results for the six
months ended 30th September, 2010; the other meetings were held to consider
other significant matters of the Company.

Attendance records of the Board meetings, the Remuneration Committee

o €k 2 R A SR AT meetings and the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:-
WK A TR
Attendance/Number of Meetings held
during the tenure of directorship
EHE
Board FMERE wHREHE
WHE#E  H{ Remuneration Audit
EHLEA Name of directors Regular Other Committee Committee
Hir#F Executive directors
L @S Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny 4/4 9/9 3/3 N/A
WEHRL L Ms. Lam Yuk Sum 4/4 9/9 3/3 N/A
W AT HF Independent non-executive directors
WoRBE ek Mr. Cheng Chung Hoo
(R ZF—FAFE A= =7 H#t) (passed away on 25th December, 2010) 3/3 0/6 N/A 2/2
5 B 5 Mr. Yang Wei Tak 3/4 0/9 2/3 2/3
Wk 3 5 4 Mr. Yeung Wing Kay 4/4 0/9 3/3 3/3
WAL A: Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John
(RBZF——FE=H =+ MHEZ() (appointed on 24th March, 2011) N/A  N/A N/A N/A

A7 LT R I T T 4% e R AR I
TR B R AR o W Rk A B
BT+ A A o B AL S R
BE kS o AR G BILIRE ) Py 8%
o

Schedules for annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting are sent to
all directors in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information
are dispatched to all directors at least 3 days before each regular Board
meeting to ensure that the directors have sufficient time to review the related
documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting. As there had been
delays in the finalisation of the financial statements, board papers were sent
to the Audit Committee members less than 3 days before the meetings for
approving interim results and final results. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board meetings
and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to all directors
for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
versions are open for directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles contains provisions requiring directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs under its defined scope of duties and terms of reference
approved by the Board and to assist in sharing the Board’s responsibilities. All
the Board committees have clear written terms of reference, which are posted
on the Company’s website www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are independent non-
executive directors and the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” of this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense. The duties and
work done by the foregoing two Board committees for the year ended 31st
March, 2011 are detailed below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of all directors of the Company, the
majority of them are independent non-executive directors.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration
of the directors and members of senior management, such policy shall ensure
that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration; determining the remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management which remuneration will be determined
by reference to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
market practice and conditions.

During the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Remuneration Committee met
three times and performed the work including reviewing and discussing
the remuneration policy for 2011 and the remuneration package and bonus
arrangement of the executive directors and senior management of the
Company.

The attendance records are set out under “Board and Committee Meetings”
on page 24 of this report and the details of emolument of each director on a
named basis for the year ended 31st March, 2011 are set out on page 65 in note
9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-executive
directors with the chairman of which possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting expertise. None of the committee members is a
former partner of the Company’s external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are: (i) to serve as a focal point for
communication between directors and the external auditor; (ii) to review the
financial statements and reports of the Company and to consider any significant
or unusual items raised by the staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor before submission to
the Board; (iii) to review the relationship with and the terms of appointment
of the external auditor and making the relevant recommendation to the
Board and to ensure continuing external auditor’s independence; and (iv) to
oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system to ensure that these systems are adequate and effective.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31st March,
2011 and the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer were invited
to join the discussion of the meetings. The Audit Committee has performed
the following work during the year: (i) reviewing and commenting on audited
annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2010, unaudited interim results
for the six months ended 30th September, 2010 and the quarterly results for
the period ended 30th June, 2010 and 31st December, 2010 respectively; (ii)
reviewing the scope of audit work, auditors’ fee and terms of engagement and
recommending re-appointment of auditor for the year ended 31st March, 2011;
and (iii) reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
of the Group.

The attendance of individual members at the Audit Committee meetings is set
out under “Board and Committee Meetings” on page 24 of this report.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2011 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment and re-election of the external auditor.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries, all of the directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31st March, 2011.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance
of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the
Company.
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Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2011 and ensure
that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The management provides such explanation and information to the Board
so as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the company put to the Board for approval.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 30 to 31 of the annual
report.

A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s
external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their corresponding
remuneration are as follows:-

il 25 330 (SR S0 diil
Category of Services Fee Paid/Payable
F#r
HK$'000
Audit Service 1,937
Non-audit Services
- tax services 336
- service for transfer pricing project 680
- other professional services (including review
on preliminary announcements and agreed upon
procedures in respect of connected party
transactions etc.) 139
TOTAL 3,092

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control system to
safeguard shareholder investments and Company assets. The internal control
system of the Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operations, to
ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets
of the Group. The senior management shall review and evaluate the control
process and monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the
Audit Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances a
identified risks.

V EEKO"INFRERNATHIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Corporate Governance Report EFXERRES

The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2011. Such review
covered the financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects
of the Group. The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget. There were no
significant areas of concern during the year.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and the investment community at large.
The Company is committed to continue to maintain an open and effective
communication policy and to update shareholders, investors and general public
on relevant information on its business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements, through the annual reports, interim announcement
and other corporate communications.

The Board also endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders
and in particular, use annual general meetings or other general meetings
to communicate with shareholders and encourage their participation. The
Chairman of the Board is available to answer questions at shareholder meetings.
Due to other commitment, the Chairmen of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee were not present at the 2010 AGM.

The 2011 AGM will be held on 6th September, 2011. The notice of the AGM will
be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the AGM.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm, where up-to-
date information and updates on the Company’s structure, board of directors,
announcements, financial information and other information are posted.

Shareholder Rights

As one of the measure to safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each

substantial issue, including the election of individual directors, for shareholders’
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at a shareholders’ meeting
are taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results are posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after the shareholders’
meeting. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll are also explained during
the proceedings of meetings.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Veeko International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 32 to 102, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March, 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED




B B AT R P A A B A £ W 5 i
2 T S B R R AT R T A G
Pt 88 52 2 R TR A% B 2 B > B4
AT EH P K T o T B8 A £ B
T TR B A B 2 LB o AE A R
B IRE > A% TR % 1 SR O W) A RO R
T A A B R A B R R > DA
sl A BB L AR > TR
AT NIRE 2 BB LA - TS A
15 B3 R 2 tBOR Z 60 ) P
i i U e g L S (R V)3
PR A A M B REZ MRS T K

AATHE > AAT MR 2 BB R R T
0508 Mo ey AT 2 A L PR AR B o

)
‘E’\

ARAT 8 R Ll 0 A% £ T B R AR DAL IR A
B R BT S P R AR
RoR——E=ZA=1T—HWMERI
To FARFEERE R H LA B WA B4
Wik > S TR U A W R 2 R R
1M % 35 A 4 o

TEEY o BH K BT & 5B AT
ES-a

B “F-—HANHZTWMH

Independent Auditor’s Report B EREE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st March, 2011 and of the Group's profit
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24th June, 2011
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 BE_E——F=—B=1+—0LEE
2011 2010
Kt T-#0 T
Notes HK$’'000 HKS$' 000
(EH L)
(restated)
BEE Turnover 5 1,111,421 886,335
B R A Cost of goods sold (505,031) (378,343)
EA Gross profit 606,390 507,992
B8 R 4 B AR Selling and distribution costs (426,560) (366,606)
BN Administrative expenses (125,466) (113,059)
FoA W ~ Wt T e 48 Other income, gains and losses 15,735 11,658
BHEWEATEME LT Increase in fair values of
investment properties 3,460 6,660
A AR Finance costs 6 (1,353) (1,969)
BB R fei— MM B AR Z  Profit before taxation and loss on
s 15 7T ¥4 A dissolution of a subsidiary 72,206 44,676
ik — ] B JE 2 ) =2 M 4 Loss on dissolution of a subsidiary 30 = (12,432)
B At iy ¥6z Profit before taxation 72,206 32,244
BB X Income tax expense 7 (5,470) (3,567)
AR A JE i A Profit for the year 8 66,736 28,677
Hofts 2 i (B 32) A Other comprehensive (expense)
income
A EBEEZ Exchange differences arising on
[ B8, 25 4 translation of foreign
operations (3,115) (3,482)
AR — O D 2 ) O o Translation reserve transferred to
R 45 2 00 T S0 G 1 profit or loss upon dissolution
of a subsidiary - 12,432
ARAE B A 2T (B 32) A Other comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (3,115) 8,950
AR JEE 48 2V WA Total comprehensive income
for the year 63,621 37,627
& A Earnings per share 12
— A - basic HK1.554 cents#

HK3.376 centsit il

— - diluted HK3.359 centsi il

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Non-current Assets

Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments

Rental deposits paid

Deferred tax assets

Current Assets

Inventories
Trade and other receivables

Prepaid lease payments

Rental and utility deposits paid
Tax recoverable

Pledged bank deposit

Bank balances, deposits and cash

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Rental deposits received
Secured bank overdrafts
Secured bank borrowings
- due within one year
Obligation under a finance lease
- due within one year
Tax payable

Net Current Assets

Capital and Reserves

Share capital
Reserves

Non-current Liabilities

Rental deposits received
Secured bank borrowings
- due after one year
Obligation under a finance lease
- due after one year
Deferred tax liabilities

on its behalf by:

M it

Notes

13

15

16

17
18
15

19

21

20

22

23

24

22

23

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Lam Yuk Sum
Director

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 58 M ERRRK

2011 2010 2009
Tt T#HL Tt
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(EFZEH) (EHZ5H)
(restated) (restated)

21,510 38,650 31,990
127,207 134,598 137,543
14,468 11,912 12,248
43,815 42,227 34,457
7,189 10,103 12,283
214,189 237,490 228,521
227,817 212,867 194,500
51,897 41,711 36,831
430 344 351
32,267 24,938 18,327
- 1,470 712

1,191 1,000 1,000
117,890 31,549 29,230
431,492 313,879 280,951
58,805 64,716 51,445
11 1,005 559

331 26 6,440
9,253 51,229 45,429
273 251 230
3,607 3,988 5,774
72,280 121,215 109,877
359,212 192,664 171,074
573,401 430,154 399,595
21,647 18,449 18,449
538,889 396,016 364,788
560,536 414,465 383,237
- - 501

7,804 9,801 10,716
401 674 925
4,660 5,214 4,216
12,865 15,689 16,358
573,401 430,154 399,595

The consolidated financial statements on pages 32 to 102 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24th June, 2011 and are signed
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011
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At 1st April, 2009 (originally stated)

Effect of change in accounting policy (note 2)

At Tt April, 2009 (restated)

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Translation reserve
transferred to profit or loss upon
dissolution of a subsidiary

Profit for the year (restated)

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payments

Shares options lapsed

Transfer

Dividends recognised as distribution

Sub-total

At 31st March, 2010 and
1st April, 2010 (restated)

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of new shares on share placements

Transaction costs attributable to issue
of new shares

Recognition of equity-settled share
based payments

Issue of shares on exercise of share options

Appropriation
Dividends

- Cash

- Scrip alterative

Sub-total

At 31st March, 2011

LES
L 4 Jo I o

Rk BGEE  Poperty  EEMBHE  WWEE Bl Share  HTEHA
Share Share revaluation  Translation Special ~ Statutory options Retained Hit
capitil premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve profi§ Totil
T T Tt T T T Tt T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
18,449 46,023 6,073 (8,010) 2,266 342 2,865 315,345 386,632
- - (6,073) (113) - - - 2791 (3395)
18,449 46,023 - (8123) 2,266 340 2,865 318,136 383,237
- - - (3482) - - - - (3482)
- - - 12432 - - - - 12432
- - - B - N - 28,677 28,677
- - - 8,950 - - - 2,677 37,627
- - - - - - 981 - 981
- - - - - - (719) 79 -
_ - - - - 2,020 - (2,020) -
_ _ - - - - - (7,380) (7,380)
- - - - - 2,020 262 (8,681) (6399)
18,449 46,023 - 827 2,266 5441 3127 338,132 414,465
- - - (3115 - - - - 3.15)
- - - - - - - 66,736 66,736
- - - (3115) - N B 66,736 63,621
2,500 82,700 - - - - - - 85,200
- (1,782) - - - - - - (1,782)
- - - - - - 544 - 544
162 4,863 - - - - (1,856) - 3,169
- - - - - (481) - - (481)
_ - - - - - - (4,200) (4,200)
536 20,464 - - - - - (21,000 -
3198 106,245 - - - (481) (1312) (25,200) 82450
21,647 152,468 - (2,288) 2,66 4,960 1815 379,668 560,536

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED




For the year ended 31st March, 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity iR S R B &R

BE_F——F=RB=1+—8LEE
The special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(a)

(b)

the difference between the nominal value of share capital of Veeko
Holdings Limited and the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company as consideration for the acquisition, arisen from a group
reorganisation in 1999; and

the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries when they were acquired by Veeko Holdings
Limited prior to the group reorganisation and the nominal value of the
share capital issued by Veeko Holdings Limited as consideration for the
acquisition.

The statutory reserves of the Group comprise the aggregate of:

(a)

(b)

reserves required by the relevant laws of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") applicable to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and are
appropriated at directors’ discretion, which are complied with Articles of
Association of respective PRC subsidiaries; and

non-distributable reserves set aside by the Macau subsidiaries in

accordance with relevant statutory requirements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011
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2011 2010
T#T T¥#T
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
(HEAFE5)
(restated)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 72,206 32,244
Adjustments for:
Allowance for inventories 348 2,348
Amortisation of prepaid lease
payments 418 343
Depreciation 31,027 30,220
Finance costs 1,353 1,969
Gain on disposal of investment
properties (1,002) -
Increase in fair values of investment
properties (3,460) (6,660)
Interest income (151) (43)
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 688 1,051
Loss on dissolution of a subsidiary - 12,432
Share-based payment expenses 544 981
Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 101,971 74,885
Increase in inventories (21,707) (23,317)
Increase in trade and other
receivables (6,242) (5,288)
Increase in rental and utility
deposits paid (7,681) (14,993)
(Decrease) increase in trade and
other payables (14,290) 11,923
Decrease in rental deposits received (994) (55)
Cash generated from operations 51,057 43,155
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (115) (2,799)
Overseas tax (paid) refunded (1,478) 185
NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 49,464 40,541
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (22,745) (28,515)
Increase in pledged bank deposit (191) -
Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 21,602 -
Interest received 151 43
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 108 800

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

(1,075)

VEEKO"INMERNAWMIONAINHOLDINGS

LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Z8RERER

BE_E——F=R=1+—BILEE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of new shares

New import loans raised

New bank loans raised

Proceeds from exercise of share
options

Repayment of bank loans

Repayment of import loans

Dividends paid

Share issue costs paid

Interest paid on bank borrowings

Repayment of obligation under a
finance lease

Interest paid on obligation under a
finance lease

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR

Represented by:
Bank balances, deposits and cash
Bank overdrafts

2011 2010
F# T o0
HK$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
(EH27)

(restated)

85,200 -
29,215 18,802
14,000 50,474
3,169 -
(56,896) (48,604)
(30,292) (15,787)
(4,200) (7,380)
(1,782) -
(1,286) (1,882)
(251) (230)
(67) (87)
36,810 (4,694)
85,199 8,175
31,523 22,790
837 558
117,559 31,523
117,890 31,549
(331) (26)
117,559 31,523
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The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The directors consider the parent and
the ultimate holding company is Silver Crown Profits Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

2.

Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)/Change in Accounting

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments and interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"):

Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008

A B 5 At 1 R SR 5 5 2 A RT AR (T A W B 5 i 4 v B 2 O (2R B\
Z—HB4)

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009

T v 1 5 i MR H 2 SO (R FIE)

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

SRa B AR 3 B s R

Classification of Rights Issues

Btz 4y

Eligible Hedged Items

FEAREIMIEA

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
5 1 DA B 4 45 530 DL IR 2 BEBE 2 A AT 2 2 )

Business Combinations

A HF

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

i B N S IR I B 4

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

Policy (Continued)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material effect on the amounts reported in
these consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 17 “Leases”

As part of “Improvements to HKFRSs” issued in 2009, HKAS 17 “Leases” has
been amended in relation to the classification of leasehold land. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, the Group was required to classify leasehold land as
operating leases and to present leasehold land as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The amendments to HKAS 17 have
removed such a requirement. The amendments require that the classification
of leasehold land should be based on the general principles set out in HKAS
17, that is, whether or not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the lessee.

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in the amendments to
HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the classification of unexpired leasehold land
as at 1st April, 2010 based on information that existed at the inception of the
leases. Leasehold land that qualifies for finance lease classification has been
reclassified from prepaid lease payment to property, plant, and equipment
retrospectively. This resulted in prepaid lease payments with the carrying
amounts of HK$3,417,000 and HK$3,328,000 as at 1st April, 2009 and 31st
March, 2010 respectively being reclassified to property, plant and equipment.

As at 31st March, 2011, leasehold land that qualifies for finance lease
classification with the carrying amount of HK$3,239,000 has been included in
property, plant and equipment. The application of the amendments to HKAS 17
has had no impact on the reported profit for the current and prior years.
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

Policy (Continued)

In prior years, the Group accounted for both leasehold land and buildings
included in property, plant and equipment using the revaluation model. In
the current year, the directors revisited the accounting policies adopted by
the Group and decided to change its accounting policy in relation to the
measurement of leasehold land and buildings to the cost model (i.e. stated at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any).
The directors of the Company consider the impact on the change in accounting
policy in the current and prior years is insignificant. Furthermore, the directors
of the Company do not expect a significant fluctuation in the fair values of
the leasehold land and buildings and hence, the impact on the change from
revaluation model to cost model is not expected to be significant to the Group
in future years. Most of the companies engaging in the similar businesses as
the Group in Hong Kong adopt the cost model in measuring leasehold land
and buildings. This change means that the Group’s leasehold land classified as
prepaid lease payments and leasehold land and buildings included in property,
plant and equipment are measured on the same and consistent cost basis.

The change has been applied retrospectively in the current year.
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Policy (Continued)

the current and prior years by line items are as follows:

Decrease in depreciation under cost
of goods sold

(Increase) decrease in depreciation
under administrative expenses

Decrease in amortisation of prepaid
lease payments under
administrative expenses

Decrease in reversal of revaluation
deficit of leasehold land and
buildings

Decrease in deferred tax charge

Decrease in profit for the year

Decrease in basic earnings per share

Decrease in diluted earnings per share

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #x & 2 75 < MY ot
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

The effects of changes in accounting policies described above on the results for

2011 2010
Hil gt it
ERE17% A A 79 YR AR
P4 TIEN B Gt PAUEIN B GEil
Amendments Change Amendments Change
to to the to to the
HKAS 17  cost model Total HKAS 17 cost model Total
T T T T T Tl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
- 265 265 - 86 86
(89) 560 471 (89) 312 223
89 - 89 89 - 89
- (990) (990) - (2,196) (2,196)
- 58 58 - 438 438
- (107) (107) - (1,360) (1,360)
Al Al A Al Al Al
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
- (0.005) (0.005) - (0.074) (0.074)
= (0.005) (0.005) - NARER  NAKRER
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

Policy (Continued)

The change to cost model in the current year has also resulted in a decrease

in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March, 2010 of

HK$2,634,000, representing the surplus on revaluation of leasehold land and

buildings, net of deferred tax impact, previously recognised directly in equity.

The effects of the above changes in accounting policies on the financial
positions of the Group as at 1st April, 2009 and 31st March, 2010 are as follows:

REZZAE  FlaEs REZZBAE RZZ-FF FlE R-F-%%
MA—H U7 SAWA  MA—H ZAS+-H 0 BUEwE SARAK ZAZ+-H
(FERA) 2Bk B (EREI)  (RERH)  ZBTA B (EHEH)

Asat As at
1.4.2009 Amendments Change Asat 3132010 Amendments Change Asat
(originally to to the 142009 (originally to tothe  31.3.2010
stated) HKAS17  cost model (restated) stated) HKAS17  cost model (restated)
T T T T T T T T
HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000
EX MERHME  Property, plant and equipment 138326 3417 4,200 137,543 140,679 3328 (9,409) 134,598
Fft & Prepaid lease payments 16,016 (3417) - 12,599 15,584 (3328) - 12,256
RIS ¢ Deferred tax liabilities (5,021) - 805 (4,216) (7.234) - 2,020 (5214)
HEEFHZEEME  Total effects on net assets 149,321 - (3,395) 145,926 149,029 - (7,389) 141,640
WER R Property revaluation reserve 6,073 - (6,073) - 8,707 - (8.707) -
Tt G Translation reserve (8,010) - (113) (8123) 940 - (113) 827
A Retained profits 315,345 - 2791 318,136 336,701 - 1431 338,132
G2 BBIE  Total effects on equity 313,408 - (3,395) 310,013 346,348 - (7,389) 338,959
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

Policy (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010’
v W o ) 2 O (R — 4R
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets?
Pl 7% — 4 Rl A S

Financial Instruments?

ARl TR

Consolidated Financial Statements?
A M B RS

Joint Arrangements?

Tk B 15

Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities®
At B B RE 7 2 Dl RS

Fair Value Measurement?

AP EEZ 5 RS

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets*
JEFE BT < Wi el AH R

Related Party Disclosures®

B 8L U5 Z e

Separate Financial Statements?

A 0 B 5 e A

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?
PR A E R A B A ZHRES

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®
I I 4 R 2 AT R

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments®

VLB A T EL 36 68 1A 5 4 A

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010 or 1st January,
2011, as appropriate.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2012.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010.
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Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)/Change in Accounting

Policy (Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled “Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets” mainly deal with the measurement of deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model in accordance with
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Based on the amendments, for the purposes
of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment
properties measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of the
investment properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances. The directors anticipate that
the application of the amendments to HKAS 12 will result in no deferred tax to
be recognised in respect of the changes in fair value of the Group’s investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other new
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for certain properties that are measured at fair values, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on
consolidation.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in normal course
of business, net of discounts, returns and allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and

title has passed.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment, including land and buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described below) are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes (i.e. construction in progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant
lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income

immediately.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included
in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases,
such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives
is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses
the classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately
based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in which case the
entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between
the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
rental and utility deposits paid, pledged bank deposit and bank balances,
deposits and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial
re-organisation.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets
that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not
be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss
directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade receivable is considered uncollectable, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period,
the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, rental deposits received,
secured bank overdrafts, secured bank borrowings and obligation under a
finance lease are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The differep
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profit against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Share options granted to employees of the group entities

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting period or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve

will be transferred to retained profits.
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4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

As at 31st March, 2011, deferred tax assets of HK$2,290,000 and HK$3,713,000
(2010: HKS$4,548,000 and HK$4,855,000) in relation to unused tax losses
and unrealised profit on inventories have been recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position respectively. No deferred tax
has been recognised in respect of unused tax losses of HK$43,674,000 (2010:
36,895,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability
of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less or more than expected, a material
reversal or additional recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
future.

Management of the Group reviews the inventories listing at the end of the
reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified based on management’s estimation and experience. As at
31st March, 2011, the carrying amount of inventories (net of allowances
amounted to HK$6,028,000 (2010: HK$5,680,000)) is HK$227,817,000 (2010:
HK$212,867,000). Management estimates the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. If
the conditions of inventories are deteriorated, or the market conditions worsep
significantly, additional allowances may be required.

V EEKO"INFRERNATHGIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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Segment Information

Operating segments

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
delivered.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are Fashion and Cosmetics, of which principal
activities are as follows:

Fashion - Manufacture and sales of ladies fashion

Cosmetics -  Sales of cosmetics

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments.

For the year ended 31st March, 2011

W 2 B S 4 43 AT o
RE=F
EH=Ef—HIEEE
BEW TURNOVER
BieE Sales of goods
NEMZHE Inter-segment sales
SR Z 8T Inter-segment sales
BT 5 are charged at
Mt prevailing market rates.
Vg ES SEGMENT RESULTS
BEWMEANTHE  Increase in fair values of
i T+ investment properties
HAb e A Other income
BT B Central administration costs
Al R Finance costs
B A Tl i A1 Profit before taxation
A #3A% BH % Income tax expense

Profit for the year

IR 3 L% i oA ik 8 e
Fashion Cosmetics Segment Total Eliminations Consolidated
T#t T# TH#T TH#T TH#T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
623,799 487,622 1,111,421 - 1,111,421
158 18 176 (176) -
623,957 487,640 1,111,597 (176) 1,111,421
47,774 25,143 72,917 - 72,917
3,460

2,497
(5,315)
(1,353)

72,206
(5,470)

66,736
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5. Segment Information (Continued)

(a) BHEA B (A (a) Operating segments (Continued)
SR K ES () SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (Continued)
HEFFE For the year ended 31st March, 2010 (restated)
EHA=A—HILEE
(EHZ )
IR 3 bt ik EE il e
Fashion Cosmetics Segment Total ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
T Tl T T T
HKS$'000 HK$' 000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BEH TURNOVER
& e Sales of goods 591,434 294,901 886,335 - 886,335
SR 2 8 Inter-segment sales 40 5 45 (45) -
591,474 294,906 886,380 (45) 886,335
SEMZ8ETT  Inter-segment sales
BT 5 are charged at
M w5 o prevailing market rates.
Vig B3 SEGMENT RESULTS 25,112 16,201 41,313 - 41,313
BEWMEAFE  Increase in fair values of
16 EF investment properties 6,660
oAt e A Other income 2,262
oh e 47 B E Central administration costs (3,590)
il R A Finance costs (1,969)
B Bt i 2 A Profit before taxation and loss
— [ ¥t} a5 o~ ) on dissolution of a subsidiary
Z N 18 i 6 A 44,676
it 1 — ] A ) Loss on dissolution
AW ZIER of a subsidiary (12,432)
I A5t i 982 1) Profit before taxation 32,244
Fil 458 B X Income tax expense (3,567)
AR A JBE i F) Profit for the year 28,677

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 HE_B5——F=B=1+—BItFE
5. SR (4T)

(a) BHHE R (A (a) Operating segments (Continued)
o B Z IR B RS The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
B A 4 B 2w BORHE R o 4 8 the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit
i P 5 4% 43 BT i B2 W A o B represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of
o Sl 2 ok B A B N T 2 changes in fair values of investment properties, other income, central
B~ AW~ PR AT B administration costs, finance costs, loss on dissolution of a subsidiary
R ~ iR — [ O s W] =2 and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the directors for
i 5 B R 43 BLBH 32 T DATC B o Uk the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.
iR E IR TR R RBLZ H W
f#ERERE 2GR -
H A S SIS A ) 5 O M 4 No analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is presented as the
A Z BB DL 4 T U B R4 directors does not review such information for the purposes of resources
HB > W R IIE B Z M o allocation and performance assessment.
HoAh 43 J & B OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
AR EESAN AT AN SR Amounts included in the measurement of segment results:
IFy %% AL R A BA
Fashion Cosmetics Segment Total Corporate  Consolidated
T SRT T T T
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
“E—f 2011
() 47 15 i (Reversal of) allowance for
inventories (20) 368 348 - 348
2 WY EL Depreciation of property, plant
Yk and equipment 23,506 6,079 29,585 1,442 31,027
WEEE S B REM  Loss on disposal of property,
ZHE plant and equipment 253 435 688 - 688
IR Lt ARAY | BE
Fashion Cosmetics Segment Total Corporate  Consolidated
T#L T#x T T T
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$' 000 HK$'000

“R-FHE(ERES) 2010 (restated)

TR Allowance for inventories 1,880 468 2,348 = 2,348
B W K Depreciation of property, plant
ZHE and equipment 23,582 5,196 28,778 1,442 30,220

WEEE  BERFME  Loss on disposal of property,
ZHRE% plant and equipment 778 273 1,051 - 1,051
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011
5. HER (F) 5. Segment Information (Continued)

(b)

Tl [ E Y (b) Geographical information
AR ) 2 S AR AW KR The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and Macau,
M~ &8~ 50k &b # A R 3k Taiwan, Singapore and other regions of the People’s Republic of China
A (Mo ) 2 Al 5 o A4 (“PRC"). The Group's revenue from external customers by geographical
[ 3R B B AE b # 4y i Ah R K P location is detailed below:
ZWA BT ¢
2011 2010
F#x T#L
HK$’000 HK$'000
W WM Hong Kong and Macau 854,915 633,951
= Taiwan 110,045 112,037
B Singapore 55,580 48,557
Hh R 2 At 3 [ Other regions of the PRC 90,881 91,790
1,111,421 886,335
BEME 2R B A F AT R P 2 WA No revenue from a customer of the Group contributed over 10% of the
A A 45 1B AR ME 4 B A 25 A total turnover of the Group of the corresponding years.
10% °
i 6 T AE S [ ) 43 2 AR 4 [ I The Group’s information about its non-current assets (excluded deferred
Tt (S 955 908 S 5 I tax assets and rental deposits paid) by geographical locations of the
O &%) BRI T ¢ assets are detailed below:
2011 2010 2009
F#x F#oT T#L
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(FHEBE5) (B 2E5)
(restated) (restated)
v M Hong Kong and Macau 71,492 91,140 83,266
=R Taiwan 3,241 3,651 5344
7 3 Singapore 2,064 4,088 3,758
o 3] 22 il [ Other regions of the PRC 86,388 86,281 89,413
163,185 185,160 181,781
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6. Finance Costs

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years
Obligation under a finance lease

7. Income Tax Expense

The charge comprises:
Hong Kong Profits Tax
Current year
Underprovision in prior years

Income tax in other jurisdictions
Current year
Overprovision in prior years

Deferred tax (note 16)
Current year

Attributable to a change in tax rate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements i56 #3% # kb &t
r the i dt March, 2011

2011 2010
T T o0
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
1,286 1,882

67 87

1,353 1,969
2011 2010
Tt FH#soT
HK$’ 000 HKS$’ 000
(EHE27)

(restated)

3,350 781
157 -
3,507 781
2,157 1,740
(2,969) (2,411)
(812) (671)
2,245 2,621
530 836
2,775 3,457
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7.  FI#ABLBH X ()

A1 B % 7 5 ) A5 A T A R R B
FFEBER16.5%57 5 o

A Al ] 5 A I 7 A =2 BIE T 4 R A B R
W RE I 0 ARG RGHAT o AR E > B
P BER H20% T Wl B17%(ZF — 4 ¢
H125%%20%) > 4> HH B i8S 2w =2 314 3%

MR 58 58/99/MB% 1 4 » MRIK 3% v A kit
BRAL Z R A W] (R % [58/99/MA ] 1) 7]
B BB AR TR R BT AR RL) TR A
58/99/MZy W] AN 45 [ YL ") AR 4 24 =] 8 5 L
JE il o
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7. Income Tax Expense (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions. During the current year, the income tax rate in Taiwan
was changed from 20% to 17% (2010: from 25% to 20%) and it resulted in a
decrease in opening deferred tax assets of the relevant subsidiary.

Under Decree Law No0.58/99/M, a Macau company incorporated under that
Law (called “58/99/M company”) is exempted from Macau complementary tax
(Macau income tax) as long as the 58/99/M company does not sell its products
to a Macau resident company.

Certain subsidiaries operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary
tax (Macau income tax) of 12%, subject to finalisation of the tax liability with the
relevant tax authority. During the current year, an overprovision of income tax
of HK$2,971,000 (2010: HK$764,000) was reversed and credited to profit or loss.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of PRC subsidiaries is
25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Jill 5f % 5 jill i By %
HIRAF (“#ERIME"), Shantou Yingko Fashion Company Limited (“Shantou
Yingko”), Shantou Yungao Fashion Company Limited (“Shantou Yungao”) and
Meko Fashion (Zhuhai-Macau Cross Boarder Industrial Zone, Zhuhai) Company
Limited (“Zhuhai Meko"”) are entitled to exemption from the PRC EIT for two
years commencing from their first profit-making year of operation and to 50%
relief from the PRC EIT for the next three years (“Tax Holidays").

For companies that are still under the Tax Holidays, the EIT Law and its
Implementation Regulations allow them to continue to enjoy the Tax Holidays
and the tax rate will change to 25% afterwards.

For companies that are qualified under old law or regulations for incentive tax
rate of 15%, the tax rate was increased progressively to 18%, 20%, 22%, 24% and
25% in the year 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

# Wil &, Shantou Yungao and Zhuhai Meko entered into their first profit-
making year in 2008. Accordingly, they are subject to 50% relief from the PRC
EIT from 1st January, 2010 to 31st December, 2012.
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7. Income Tax Expense (Continued)

il BE A w2 AR A PR A W] (“W BRI 55 7) and Shantou Yingko (whose first profit-
making year was 2003) both are entitled to preferential PRC EIT rates of 22%
and 24% for the twelve-month period ended 31st December, 2010 and 31st
December, 2011 (2009: 20%), respectively. The PRC EIT charges are arrived at
after taking into account these tax incentives.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2011 2010

T T#L

HK$’000 HK$’000

(HEAFL5])

(restated)

Profit before taxation 72,206 32,244

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 11,914 5,320
Effect of different tax rates applicable

to operations in other jurisdictions 654 514

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes 1,483 2,556
Tax effect of income not taxable

for tax purposes (89) (17)
Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (558) (183)
Recognition of deferred tax assets

previously not recognised (1) (331)
Reversal of deferred tax liabilities

previously recognised (1,316) =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,119 770

Decrease in opening deferred tax assets
resulting from a decrease in applicable

tax rate 530 836
Tax effect of tax exemption granted

to operations in other jurisdictions (6,425) (3,487)
Overprovision in prior years (2,812) (2,411)

Tax effect of undistributed earnings
of a PRC subsidiary 971

Tax charge for the year 5,470 3,567
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LA N (B35 7T 4 g 2 32 )

Mat: WRBHEZZHEERACREGFE
#E {348,000 J6 (ZF —F 4 :
2,348,000¥70) °

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Employee benefits expenses
(including directors’ emoluments):
Salaries and other benefits
Share based payments
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Auditors’ remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised
as expenses (Note)
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Interest income
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment properties
(included in other income,
gains and losses)
Net exchange gain
Rental income, with negligible outgoings

otes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #7 S R FHRc et

BE_E——F=p=+—QLEE
8. Profit for the Year

2011 2010
T T o0
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000
(EH£27)

(restated)

222,063 200,663
544 981
9,531 8,817
232,138 210,461
418 343
2,010 1,776
505,031 378,343
31,027 30,220
(151) (43)
688 1,051
(1,002) -
(10,736) (6,491)
(1,346) (2,501)

Note: Cost of inventories recognised as expenses included allowance for
inventories of HK$348,000 (2010: HK$2,348,000).
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Fees
Other emoluments

Salaries and allowances
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9. Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2010: five) directors were as

Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

Total emoluments

2010

Fees
Other emoluments

Salaries and allowances

Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

Total emoluments

(i) EHHELERZ-F—-——F=H
Z i H R

(i) WRFELER_-Z-RES A

e ok TREN 3Nt

BREFRRE-F——FR T —FF
= 7 =4 H kA AR T 4 o

follows:
W BRFERE
Mr.Cheng HEHRLL BEERAE HkEERE EBHEEEE  MrCheng
Chung Man, Ms. Lam Mr.Yang  Mr.Yeung Mr.Fok Kam Chung Gl
Johnny Yuk Sum WeiTak  WingKay  Chu, John Hoo Total
T#7 TH# TH# TH# TH# ¥ T#7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
(Hiiti) (Wictii)
(Note i) (Note i)
- - 80 100 - 100 280
1,560 660 - - - - 2,220
12 12 - - - - 24
1,572 672 80 100 - 100 2,524
W et LIPS &
Mr.Cheng HhEZRLL  HEMEERE  HkHEEE M Cheng
Chung Man, Ms. Lam Mr.Yang  Mr.Yeung Chung G
Johnny Yuk Sum Wei Tak Wing Kay Hoo Total
T T T#x T#x T#x T
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- - 80 100 100 280
1,560 660 - - - 2,220
12 12 - - - 24
1,572 672 80 100 100 2,524
Notes:
(i)  Mr. Fok Kam Chu, John was appointed on 24th March, 2011.

(ii)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hoo deceased on 25th December, 2010.

No directors waived any emoluments during the years ended 31st March, 2011

and 2010.
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10. Employees’ Emoluments
During the year, the five highest paid individuals included one (2010: one)
director of the Company whose emoluments are set out in note 9 above. The

emoluments of the remaining four (2010: four) highest paid individuals were as
follows:

2011 2010
Tt T#o0
HKS$’ 000 HKS$’000

Salaries, share based payments
and other benefits 3,376 3,256
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 48 48
3,424 3,304

The emoluments of each of the above highest paid individuals were less than
HK$1,000,000 for both years.

11. Dividends

2011 2010
SR T80
HK$’ 000 HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:

2011 interim dividend of HK0.6 cent
(2010: 2010 interim dividend of
HKO0.2 cent) per share 11,509 3,690
2010 final dividend of HKO0.6 cent
(2010: 2009 final dividend of HK0.2 cent)
per share 13,691 3,690

25,200 7,380
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11. Dividends (Continued)

In respect of the 2011 interim and 2010 final dividends, scrip dividends were
offered and were accepted by the majority of shareholders as follows:

2011 2010 2010 2009
) K v R
Interim Final Interim Final
Tt AR Tt T¥#on
HKS$’' 000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000

s Dividends:
B4 Cash 2,996 1,204 3,690 3,690
YL BEAR B Scrip alternative 8,513 12,487 = A
11,509 13,691 3,690 3,690

HHEHERUBSIRE _F——ERBKRE
BB AN A 3623,811,000%8 76 - M ZEH 1R
JBE SR M i P SRR AR K € Bt > 7 RTAR
g °

12. BRERN

NNCIE: XN SR & NS & D]
To ¥ A 2w e N HE A %5 Fl 66,736,0009
J6 (& —R4E 1 28,677,000 7C (EH 2
B)) e O 84T A 2\ B 3 58 B A 7 ¥ 8%
(I T B &) w5 -

Jsetn ¥ H
BRI A A 2
38 B RE T 38 8

AR B
Sk JBEHE (M i)

NGRS & SUR ¥ e
T 908 JB i B 1 32 8

S
gytk

Fo R 1R A R SE33NR [
JBe 8 it A b 2 A R AT
A5 R B A TS W% A BE 2 P 4 i A
B o G ABRE R —FRE=A
= H 1k 4R I 2 5 4 3 4 R

E 5 3 A7 B A 4 7] W R AT B

The 2011 final dividend of HK1.1 cents per share totalling HK$23,811,000 in
cash has been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

12. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the profit attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$66,736,000 (2010: HK$28,677,000, as restated) and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company set out below.

2011 2010
T#T T#T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 1,976,836,633 1,844,886,976
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options (Note) 9,651,104 N/AT 8 H
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share 1,986,487,737 N/AZ %% F

Note: The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31st
March, 2010 did not assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding
share options because the adjusted exercise prices of those options
calculated in accordance with HKAS 33 “Earnings Per Share” were higher
than the average market price of the shares for that year.
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13. Investment Properties

T
HK$'000

FAIR VALUE
At 1st April, 2009 31,990
Increase in fair value 6,660
At 31st March, 2010 38,650
Increase in fair value 3,460
Disposals (20,600)
At 31st March, 2011 21,510

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March, 2010 and
31st March, 2011 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on
that date by Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited, independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited are members of the Institute of Valuers. The
valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same locations and conditions. The change in fair
value of these properties has been recognised in the profit or loss.

The investment properties of the Group are situated in Hong Kong and are held
under medium-term leases. All of the Group’s property’s interests held to earn
rental are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted
for as investment properties.

All of the Group’s investments properties have been pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group.
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CosT

At 1st April, 2009
(originally stated)

Effect of changes in accounting
policies (note 2)

At 1st April, 2009 (restated)

Exchange adjustments
Additions
Disposals

At 31st March, 2010
(restated)
Exchange adjustments
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification
Transfer to prepaid lease payments

At 31st March, 2011

DEPRECIATION

At 1st April 2009
(originally restated)

Effect of changes in accounting
policies (note 2)

At 1st April, 2009

(restated)
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year (restated)
Eliminated on disposals

At 31st March, 2010
(restated)

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals

At 31st March, 2011

CARRYING VALUES
At 31st March, 2011

At 31st March, 2010
(restated)

At 31st March, 2009

stated)
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 156 B 3BT &+
For the year ended 31st March, 2011
14. AE¥ - Wb Akt

i ER.
ERTR R RERTEE  RERES  REREE  HAERMH i Hil
Leasehold
Construction land and Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Office Motor
in progress buildings improvements machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
T Tl TH# T Tl T T T
HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS"000 HK$'000
- 85,793 104,378 29,616 25236 11,462 4421 260,906
- 8353 - - - - - 8,353
- 94,146 104,378 29,616 25,236 11,462 4421 269,259
- - 2242 - 167 198 16 2,623
5,290 - 15,505 1,786 4,266 1,668 - 28,515
- - (7.272) (7,019) (570) (1,686) 3) (16,550)
5290 94,146 114,853 24,383 29,099 11,642 4,434 283,847
- 2,941 4,724 1,329 394 431 105 9,924
240 434 11,141 4,652 4,095 1,820 363 22,745
- - (5321) (707) (789) (477) (242) (7,536)
(3,155) 3,155 - - - - - -
(2,375) - - - - - - (2,375)
- 100,676 125,397 29,657 32,799 13,416 4,660 306,605
- - 76,524 17,497 17,293 8,599 2,667 122,580
- 9,136 - - - - - 9,136
- 9,136 76,524 17,497 17,293 8,599 2,667 131,716
- - 1,712 - 128 157 15 2,012
- 2,940 17,452 4,849 3,025 1328 626 30,220
- - (5,886) (6,986) (273) (1,554) - (14,699)
- 12,076 89,802 15,360 20173 8,530 3,308 149,249
- 203 4,026 923 284 322 104 5,862
- 3,070 17,109 5679 3,145 1,593 431 31,027
- - (4,787) (676) (583) (452) (242) (6,740)
- 15,349 106,150 21,286 23,019 9,993 3,601 179,398
- 85,327 19,247 8371 9,780 3,423 1,059 127,207

1,126

1,754

134,598

137,543
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AH A b e pE
Leasehold land and buildings
Liilg S 3

Leasehold improvements
W I e

Plant and machinery
BRARL B 3 8

Furniture and fixtures

b N T i)

Office equipment

P

Motor vehicles
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress), less their residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

A E A

Over the terms of leases

200k #2104 1) (DA 3 2 )

20% or over the terms of the leases, whichever is shorter

25%

20%

33'/3%

20%

The carrying value of leasehold land and buildings held under medium-term

T 2 22 VR i A leases shown above comprises:
2011 2010 2009
T TF#T T
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(EHED]) (EHLED)
(restated) (restated)

AL Situated:

s In Hong Kong 26,620 28,043 29,465
BB Ah Outside Hong Kong 58,707 54,027 55,545

¥HL 2 MR 1 1,059,000 6 (ZF —F
4E 1 1,126,000% J0) 13 45 # b B BB Ry
H Z & #1693,000% 0 (ZF —F4F
1,001,000%JC) °

85,327 82,070 85,010

The carrying value of motor vehicles of HK$1,059,000 (2010: HK$1,126,000)
includes an amount of HK$693,000 (2010: HK$1,001,000) held under a finance
lease.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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15. Prepaid Lease Payments

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #x & 2 75 < MY ot

2011 2010 2009
T T#oT T#oT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(EHEH) (EHE))
(restated) (restated)
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong
held under medium-term leases 14,898 12,256 12,599
Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Current asset 430 344 351
Non-current asset 14,468 11,912 12,248
14,898 12,256 12,599

16. Deferred Taxation

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The

following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

purposes:
2011 2010 2009

T T o0 T o0

HK$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000

(EHEF) (EHED)

(restated) (restated)

Deferred tax assets 7,189 10,103 12,283
Deferred tax liabilities (4,660) (5,214) (4,216)
2,529 4,889 8,067
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16. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and

R (B R B s ) - movements thereon during the current and prior years:
BEGTEmMH —
ZHEWER *E REjZ
Temporary BEREN  RARERM
Efi¥  difference BEEHE  Unrealised Undistributed
Revaluation of from tax Tax profiton  earnings of it
properties  depreciation losses inventories  aPRC entity Total
T T T T T#x T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
REZFAENA—H At 31st April, 2009
(FEEF) (originally stated ) (5,007) 539 6,988 4,742 - 7,262
A BOREH B Effect of change in accounting
(Wit2) policy (note 2) 37 (2312) - - - 805
RZZZFNENA—H At Tst April, 2009
(A 2T) (restated) (1,890) (1,773) 6,988 4742 - 8,067
3.0 Exchange adjustments - - 279 - - 279
RS (B A (Charged) credited to profit or loss (1,099) 248 2112 342 - (2,621)
MEZHZY Effect of change in tax rate - - (607) (229) - (836)
REZ-ZEZJ=1—H  At3istMarch, 2010
(EHET) (restated) (2,989) (1,525) 4,548 4,855 - 4,889
3.0 Exchange adjustments - - 415 - - 415
PEEEA G Credit (charged) to profit or loss 745 1,266 2,131) (1,154) (971) (2,245)
BEEHZHE Effect of change in tax rate - - (542) 12 - (530)
PR —EZH=E4—H At 31st March, 2011 (2,244) (259) 2,290 3,713 (971) 2,529

MNoF——HE=ZH=Z+—H » RKEHET
Bl 41K 8 R 2 i ) B 1 R 58 B 1H %
59,718,000% 7T (& — 4 : 62,474,000
Wot) o A E B 16,044,000 00 (&
—F4E 1 25,579,0009 70 ) Z B IH i 1R e R
R SIE 0 JE K o b Y R BB TR R AR i
ARG > WO I M B T I oA B ) B s 4R
43,674,000% JC (ZF — F4F : 36,895,000
HAFEHR - NEE_R—HE(Z
BB R -SHEE TR IR B
212,412,000% 78 (—F—F4: : 8,708,000
W IC ) M4 o Al i 1L T AR LY 465 e o

At 31st March, 2011, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$59,718,000 (2010:
HK$62,474,000) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of HK$16,044,000 (2010: HK$25,579,000)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining unused tax losses of HK$43,674,000 (2010: HK$36,895,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are
losses of HK$12,412,000 (2010: HK$8,708,000) that will expire in 2014 to 2015
(2010: 2013 to 2014). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

V EEKO"INFRERNATGIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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16. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #5 & ¥ 75 < MY &t

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in

respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards.

Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial

statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to undistributed
and accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$34,321,000
(2010: HK$31,424,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

17. Inventories

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

18. Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables
Other receivables

2011 2010
Tt F#oT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
16,618 13,530
21,878 21,386
189,321 177,951
227,817 212,867
2011 2010
Tt F#oT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
41,569 31,769
10,328 9,942
51,897 41,711
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18. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The Group allows a 30 to 60 days credit period for receivables from sales
counters and an average credit period of 60 to 120 days to its wholesale
customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the
reporting date:

2011 2010

T#t T#L

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 23,085 16,641
31 - 60 days 7,605 5,438
61 - 90 days 2,442 2,716
Over 90 days 8,437 6,974
41,569 31,769

Before accepting any new wholesale customers, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality by investigating their historical credit record
and defines credit limits by customer. Credit sales are made to customers with
a satisfactory trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly. At the end of the reporting period, 89% (2010: 89%) of
the trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired. In the opinion of the
directors, the trade receivables are of good credit quality and those debtors did
not have any default payment history.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$4,497,000 (2010: HK$3,353,000) which are past due at
the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

2011 2010

T T o

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

61 - 90 days 642 1,783
91 - 120 days 3,855 1,574

4,497

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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19. Pledged Bank Deposit

The amount represents a deposit pledged to a bank to secure general banking

facilities of the Group. The deposit was pledged to secure short-term bank

borrowings and was therefore classified as a current asset. The deposit carries

fixed interest rate of 1.5% (2010: 0.01%) per annum.

20. Bank Balances, Deposits and Cash/Secured Bank
Overdrafts

The Group’s bank deposits carry interest rate at prevailing bank deposits rates
ranging from 0.001% to 1.5% (2010: 0.001% to 0.360%) per annum and have an

original maturity of three months or less.

The secured bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate ranged from 5.25% to

6.50% (2010: 5.25% to 6.50%) per annum.

21. Trade and Other Payables

At 31st March, 2011, included in the Group’s trade and other payables were
trade payables of HK$17,726,000 (2010: HK$22,723,000). Details of the aged

analysis of trade payables are as follows:

2011 2010

Tt T-#I0

HKS$’ 000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 12,910 13,897
31 - 60 days 2,349 2,569
61 - 90 days 1,879 3,305
Over 90 days 588 2,952
17,726 22,723
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21, WEFTE 5wk JE Kk H{ib % 21. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

fF 3k I8 ()

A4 B H AR HE A SR Z AT An analysis of the Group’s other payables is set out below:
2011 2010
T T
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
WE R H Accrued expenses 31,596 31,740
JAth A 3R Other payables 5,151 7,311
J At JRE A BRI Other taxes payables 4,332 2,942
41,079 41,993

AR P E AT B Sk TE KB BEAT BRIE DL The Group's trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the
AHEEAR 2B IS ZEWEE  functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

ZERFWT
VHEGE  DAR¥GHE Ve Sk VA Bk 72 5HE
Denominated in
United States
Japanese Yen Renminbi dollar Euro
(“YEN") (“RMB”) (“UsD”) (“EUR")
T#T T T#T T#T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
RF A At 31st March, 2011
=A=+—H 71 - 11 186
R_R—RE At 31st March, 2010

=H=+—H - 420 N °70

22. [P THEE 22. Secured Bank Borrowings

2011 2010

Tt T

HKS$’ 000 HK$'000

AT R Bank loans 13,451 56,347
i OB Import loans 3,606 4,683
17,057 61,030

V EEKO"INFRERNATHIONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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22, Secured Bank Borrowings (Continued)

2011 2010
T T T
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
Carrying amounts repayable*:
On demand or within one year 9,253 51,229
More than one year but not exceeding
two years 4,088 3,983
More than two years but not exceeding
three years 2,566 2,391
More than three years but not exceeding
four years 1,150 2,278
More than four years but not exceeding
five years - 1,149
17,057 61,030
Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (9,253) (51,229)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities 7,804 9,801

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

The Group’s borrowings are floating-rate borrowings which carry effective

interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) ranging from
1.1% to 2.5% (2010: 1.1% to 6.0%) per annum.

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the

22 ASE H SRAT A I - functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out as below:

PLHEEHE  PAEoostE DBk oostA
Denominated in

YEN usb EUR
TH#oT F#oT TW#oo
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R_-B——#H=A=+—H At 31st March, 2011 2,649 747 210
W_F—-RF=ZH=+—H At 31st March, 2010 - 4,148 279

SRAT A B DAAS SR [ 25 2 S AT (LB
#k27) ©

The bank borrowings are secured by certain assets of the Group (see note 27).
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Amounts payable under
a finance lease:

Within one year

In more than one year but
not more than two years

In more than two years but
not more than five years

Less: future finance charges

Present value of lease obligation

Less: Amount due for settlement
within one year (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement
after one year

B A AL K OH

Minimum

lease payments
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23. Obligation under a Finance Lease

e (0L Bk 0 2 B

Present value

of minimum

lease payments

2011 2010 2011 2010
T#x T#T T#n T#T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
318 318 273 251
318 318 296 273
108 426 105 401
744 1,062 674 925
(70) (137) = -
674 925 674 925
(273) (251)
401 674

The Group leased a motor vehicle under a finance lease. The lease term is 5
years. Interest rate underlying the obligation under a finance lease is fixed at
contract date. The effective interest rate is 8.29% (2010: 8.29%) per annum.
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24. Share Capital

kA
Number of 1
ordinary shares Value
Tt
HK$’000

Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 1st April, 2009, 31st March,
2010 and 31st March, 2011
10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1st April, 2009 and

31st March, 2010 1,844,886,976 18,449
Exercise of share options (Note i) 16,200,000 162
Issue of new shares in lieu of cash

dividends (Note ii) 53,570,185 536
Issue of new shares on share placements

(Note iii) 250,000,000 2,500
At 31st March, 2011 2,164,657,161 21,647

Notes:

(i)  During the year ended 31st March, 2011, 2,000,000, 2,000,000, 11,500,000 and
700,000 share options were exercised at HK$0.255, HK$0.2052, HK$0.186 and
HK$0.1562 per share respectively, resulting in issue of a total of 16,200,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company.

(i)  On 20th October, 2010 and 9th February, 2011, the Company issued and
allotted a total of 32,018,262 and 21,551,923 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at HK$0.390 and HK$0.395 per share, in lieu of cash for the 2010 final and 2011
interim dividend, respectively.

(iii) On 20th September, 2010 and 24th December, 2010, arrangements were made
for two private placements to independent private investors of 150,000,000
and 100,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company held by the chief
executive officer and an executive director of the Company, Ms. Lam Yuk Sum,
at prices of HK$0.268 and HK$0.450 per share, respectively.

Pursuant to the placing and subscription agreements of the same date, Ms.
Lam Yuk Sum subscribed for 150,000,000 and 100,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.01 each in the Company at prices of HK$0.268 and HKS$0.450 per share,
respectively. The proceeds were used for expansion of the cosmetics retail
business in Hong Kong and Macau and opening counters at department stores
for the fashion retail business in China. These new shares were issued under the
general mandate granted to the directors at the annual general meetings of the
Company held on 8th September, 2009 and 9th September, 2010 respectively.

The shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then existing shares
in all respects.
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On 20th October, 2010 and 9th February, 2011, the Company issued and
allotted a total of 32,018,262 and 21,551,923 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
at HK$0.390 and HK$0.395 per share, in lieu of cash for the 2010 final and 2011
interim dividend, respectively.

26. Operating Leases

During the year, the Group made rental payments for buildings under operating
leases as follows:

2011 2010

T# 0 T

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments 243,329 202,633
Contingent rental payments 10,863 10,222
254,192 212,855

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

2011 2010

T# 7t T#IT

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 211,852 212,015
In the second to fifth year inclusive 213,005 186,636
Over five years 56 -
424,913 398,651

In addition to these commitments, the Group may pay additional rental
expenses in respect of certain premises which are dependent upon the level of
sales achieved by particular outlets.

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain of
its retail outlets and office properties. Leases are negotiated for an average term
of three years. Certain lease contracts are with contingent rental arranger

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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26. Operating Leases (Continued)

Property rental income earned during the year was HKS$1,346,000 (2010:
HK$2,501,000). The properties generated rental yields of 6% (2010: 6%) on an
ongoing basis. All of the properties held have committed tenants for one to two
years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for
the following future minimum lease payments:

2011 2010

T#T T# T

HKS$’ 000 HK$’000

Within one year 41 894
In the second to fifth year inclusive - 15
41 909

27. Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged by the
Group to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group:

2011 2010 2009

Tt FH#o0 THoo

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

(FHEHEF) (FHEHEF)

(restated) (restated)

wEmE Investment properties 21,510 38,650 31,990
FH T 4 b R p g Leasehold land and buildings 25,700 27,052 28,404
PEHCA SR AT 7 3K Pledged bank deposit 1,191 1,000 1,000
48,401 66,702 61,394
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28. Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company on 17th September, 2003, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was adopted by the Company for the purpose of providing eligible participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
All directors, full-time employees and any other persons who, in the sole
discretion of the board of directors of the Company, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
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28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the date
of adoption.

The Company may renew this 10% limit with shareholders’ approval provided
that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in
issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company must not exceed 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares of
the Company issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including both exercised and unexercised options) under
the Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be specified by
the Company at the time of grant. This period must expire no later than 10
years from the date of grant of the options. At the time of grant of the options,
the Company may specify a minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date on which the letter containing the offer
is delivered to that participant and the amount payable on acceptance of an
option is HKS1.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise
of the options shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of offer. The
subscription price will be established by the board of directors of the Company
at the time the option is offered to the participants.

No options may be granted under the Scheme after the date of the tenth
anniversary of the adoption of the Scheme.

No options were granted to the directors of the Company during both years or
under the Scheme.

The following table discloses details of options granted under the Scheme
by employees of the Group and movements in such holdings.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED




e

il 1
Date of grant

SEEWEAH N

21st September, 2004

ZEERENTAH

16th August, 2006

SEERENA AR

16th August, 2006

“EFUEAANA

4th June, 2007

“EFUEAANA

4th June, 2007

“FB MR AR

18th June, 2008

“FB MR AR

18th June, 2008

A B
Vesting period

SEEWELA R E
“EENERAZTH
21st September, 2004
to 20th September, 2008

SEERENITARE
“ZFNENATLH
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2008

o AR
“E2-FEN\ATLH
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2010

ZZRLEANNAR
“E-RENAZH
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2010

ZRFLEANEAR
“F-CHEANAZH
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2012

ZEFNEANTARZR
“F AN
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2011

ZZRNEAATARR
ZE-ZFEANATEH
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2013

BE_E——E=B=+—BILEE
28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

fTBEBIR

Exercisable period

“ERNELAZT—HE
“E-FEAA R
21st September, 2008
to 20th September, 2010

“RFNEAATAHRE
o T
16th August, 2008
to 15th August, 2010

SEFBEAATARE
“E2-ZEAATLH
16th August, 2010
to 15th August, 2012

ZE-BEAANAE
ZER-ZHEARZR
4th June, 2010
to 3rd June, 2012

ZE-ZEANANEAR
ZZ-WEAAZH
4th June, 2012
to 3rd June, 2014

Z2—EANTARR
“F-SEAATER
18th June, 2011
to 17th June, 2013

ZE-EEARTARER
ZE-LEANATEH
18th June, 2013
to 17th June, 2015
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28. iR HE S (4F)

MEREZE-—4=A=Z1T—H1L4E  During the year ended 31st March, 2011:

BRATHH
Exercise
price

per share

0.2550% 7t
HK$0.2550

0.2052% ¢
HK$0.2052

0.2052% ¢
HK$0.2052

0.1860% 7
HK$0.1860

0.1860% G
HK$0.1860

025003 ¢
HK$0.2500

0.2500% 7t
HK$0.2500

FaN

e S 312
MA—H

b4 1
Balance

at

1.4.2010

2,000,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

13,900,000

13,900,000

500,000

500,000

MBRRM

RAEEW
fife
Exercised
during
the year

(2,000,000)

(1,200,000)

(800,000)

(11,500,000)

RoB——f
=H=+—H
W AAT B
Outstanding
at

31.3.2011

400,000

2,400,000

13,900,000

500,000

500,000




otes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #7 S R FHRc &t

For the year ended 31st March, 2011

28. RS (4F)

il 1
Date of grant

B L

6th January, 2010

e il

6th January, 2010

SRR KR

6th January, 2010

e ALl

6th January, 2010

WA RAT A
Exercisable at
the end of the year

THEF 377 6
Weighted average
exercise price

T Bl i b5 4 0
Vesting period

e L LLE
“F-—E-fhH
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2011

SE-REAARE
“F-ZH%—-JAA
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2012

o L LE
“F-ZE-REH
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2013

o LLLLE:
“Z-NE-JLH
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2014

BE_E——F=B=1+—BILEE

28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

7 B A

Exercisable period

“E—FE-JARE
“Z-NE-JLH
6th January, 2011
to 5th January, 2014

“E-CE-AARE
“F-n%—-ALA
6th January, 2012
to 5th January, 2015

“EZE-AAHE
ZE-NE-RR
6th January, 2013
to 5th January, 2016

“E-NE-AAHE
—Z-tE-ALH
6th January, 2014
to 5th January, 2017

IR AT
Exercise
price

per share

015623 ¢
HK$0.1562

0.1562¥ ¢
HK$0.1562

015623 ¢
HK$0.1562

015623 ¢
HK$0.1562

R-Z—%4 RoB——4
MA—H MEERN =H=+—H
2 Gtk fifl Wi AAT B
Balance Exercised  Outstanding
at during at
1.4.2010 the year 31.3.2011
700,000 (700,000) -
700,000 - 700,000
800,000 - 800,000
800,000 - 800,000
36,200,000 (16,200,000) 20,000,000
2,800,000

0.1904 0.1956 0.1862
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REE-Z-FFE=ZHA=Z+T—HIEEE

W e

M
Date of grant

“EEEET-RTAR

18th November, 2003

ZRFMEAAZT R

21st September, 2004

ZREAE AR

16th August, 2006

SRERE AR

16th August, 2006

“ERRUERANA

4th June, 2007

“ERFLERANA

4th June, 2007

“RF\EARTR

18th June, 2008

Fr b i 4 4 )
Vesting period

RE R ALE:
“RREE-ATEN
18th November, 2003
to 17th November, 2007

“RRNEAAZ —HE
ZRRMNELAZAA
21st September, 2004
to 20th September, 2008

“ERERENATARE
“RFNENATLA
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2008

ZRERNENATAHER
=t LT
16th August, 2006
to 15th August, 2010

ZEBLEANANAE
“F-REAAZN
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2010

ZRRLEARNHE
ZE-ZERRZH
4th June, 2007
to 3rd June, 2012

“ERNEARTIARE
ZE—EARTEH
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2011

friE MM

Exercisable period

“RRUEATARE
“ERNEF AR
18th November, 2007
to 17th November, 2009

“RRMNEAAZA-HE
SRR
21st September, 2008
to 20th September, 2010

ZEFNEAATARE
=t LVEET
16th August, 2008
to 15th August, 2010

ZR-REMITARE
“R-CENATLA
16th August, 2010
to 15th August, 2012

ZEREANNAE
o TV EL
4th June, 2010
to 3rd June, 2012

ZE-CERANHE
ZE-MERRZH
4th June, 2012
to 3rd June, 2014

“F—EAATARE
ZER-EEAATER
18th June, 2011
to 17th June, 2013

BE_B——F=A=+—BLEE
28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31st March, 2010:

AT
Exercise
price

per share

0.1620% 18
HK$0.1620

0.2550% 7t
HK$0.2550

0.2052% 78
HK$0.2052

0.20528 78
HK$0.2052

0.1860% G
HK$0.1860

0.1860% 7
HK$0.1860

0.25003 1
HK$0.2500

REZENE
MA—H
&k
Balance

at

1.4.2009

9,000,000

2,000,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

13,900,000

13,900,000

500,000

RAEERN
il
Granted
during
the year

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 156 B 3BT &+
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28. WL HE g 8 (%)

RN
3t
Lapsed
during
the year

(9,000,000)

REZ-%E
EVES |
W AT B
Outstanding
at

31.3.2010

2,000,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

13,900,000

13,900,000

500,000
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28. RS (A7)

AR
Date of grant

“EFNERATH

18th June, 2008

ZE-FE-ARN

6th January, 2010

“E-FE-ARN

6th January, 2010

ZE-RE-ARN

6th January, 2010

ZE-FE-RN

6th January, 2010

WRERAT
Exercisable at
the end of the year

L STl
Weighted average
exercise price

frtis s M
Vesting period

ZRRNEARTARE
“E-ZEARTEN
18th June, 2008
to 17th June, 2013

“E-RE-AANRE
B b N
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2011

“ER-RE-ARE
“F-TE-ARH
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2012

“R-RE-ARE
“E-ZE-ALA
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2013

“E-RE-ARRE
“R-NE-ALA
6th January, 2010
to 5th January, 2014

MBE R A= HILEEN
ATA8E 2 W TR 55 - T8 H 3 =2
¥ A 450.3758% 00 - MR E R — B4
ZHZE A H kAR R I SR A AT AL o
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T M

Exercisable period

ZE-ZEARTARE
“E-REARTER
18th June, 2013
to 17th June, 2015

I Yk
ZE-WE-ALH
6th January, 2011
to 5th January, 2014

“R-TE-ARE
“E-nE-ALA
6th January, 2012
to 5th January, 2015

“R-ZE-ARE
“E-RE-HLA
6th January, 2013
to 5th January, 2016

“R-ME-AARE
“E-tE-RLA
6th January, 2014
to 5th January, 2017

BE_E——F=B=1+—BILEE

28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

R
Exercise
price

per share

0.2500% 7
HK$0.2500

0.1562% ¢
HK$0.1562

0.1562i 18
HK$0.1562

0.1562i 18
HK$0.1562

0.1562i 78
HK$0.1562

REZENE I S 2.2
MA-H AR REERN  ZRA=1H
ZHitk il K LERiTd
Balance Granted Lapsed  Outstanding
at during during at
1.4.2009 the year the year 31.3.2010
500,000 - - 500,000

- 700,000 - 700,000

- 700,000 - 700,000

- 800,000 - 800,000

- 800,000 - 800,000
42,200,000 3,000,000 (9,000,0000 36,200,000
3,200,000

0.187 0.1562 0.1620 0.1904

In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended 31st March,

2011, the weighted average share price on the dates of exercise is HK$0.3758.

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31st March, 2010.
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28. B HEGHE (/) 28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

MR —FE—HH (ZHHY) FislE The fair values of the options granted during the year ended 31st March, 2010
REREF-REZHA=ZT—HILA)JEN  measured at the date of grant on 6th January, 2010 were as follows:
e Z W IR Z AP AT -

AR S0 AT B 0 A

ZF—-—F—HAHZE
ZF—-NE—HHH
ZF-ZH—AAHZE
“F—HH—HAH
ZE-=F—HAHZE
R -AF—HLH
ZF—-NUE—AAHE
—F—tH#—HAuH

Options exercisable during the following periods:

AF R

Fair values

oo

HK$

6th January, 2011 to 5th January, 2014 0.04
6th January, 2012 to 5th January, 2015 0.04
6th January, 2013 to 5th January, 2016 0.05
6th January, 2014 to 5th January, 2017 0.05

DT BERE T 58 — fPAE 0T ) IRERT 4% The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair values using

A APl 2 ARG

HRARE AR

B 7 R B B it
Z B
AATEMERRE R
SRR R

the Black-Scholes option pricing model:

T e
Option exercisable from
Bk “E-TE-H e “E-WE-A
AHEZE—k AHECZ-1E AREZE-Rk AHEZE-LE
~HLH ~HER ~HLH ~HLH
6th January, 6th January, 6th January, 6th January,
2011to 2012to 2013 to 2014 to
5th January, 5th January, 5th January, 5th January,
2014 2015 2016 2017
Expected life of options LS fik:3 N i
4years 5 years 6 years 7 years
Expected volatility based on historical
volatility of share prices of the Company 56% 53% 54% 62%
Expected annual dividend yield of the Company 6% 6% 6% 6%
Risk-free rate 1.5% 1.9% 24% 2.4%
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28. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price over the previous 4 to 7 years.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$544,000 for the year ended 31st
March, 2011 (2010: HK$981,000) in relation to share options granted by the
Company.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an
option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

29. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme for
qualifying employees of the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,000 or
5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF scheme, which contribution is matched
by employees.

The Company’s subsidiary operating in Singapore is required to participate
in the Central Provident Fund (“CPF") scheme. The retirement benefit costs
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represent
contributions to the CPF scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the CPF scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are also required to make
contributions to state retirement benefit schemes in the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specific percentage of the monthly basic salaries of
the employees to the relevant schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to these pension schemes is to make the specified
contributions.

The branch of the Group’s subsidiary operating in Taiwan accrues pension cost
equivalent to two percent of employee’s basic salary in accordance with the
Labor Standards Law (“LSL"). Pension fund is deposited in the Bank of Taiwan,
a custodian bank for employee pension fund designated by the government.
Effective from 1st July, 2005, the branch adopted a defined contribution scheme
(“New Scheme”) governed by the Labor Pension Act (“LPA").

The employees who are subject to the Labor Standards Law regulations prior
to the enforcement of LPA may choose to be covered under the New Scheme
or may continue being covered under the pension scheme provided under LSL.
Under the New Scheme, LPA prescribes that the pension contribution rate by
employer to an employee’s individual pension account per month shall

less than six percent of each employee’s monthly salary or wage.

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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30. Connected Party Transactions and Dissolution of a

Subsidiary

On 27th July, 2006, the Group renewed the tenancy agreement with H5& 1 JE 4
B P S Ay R TR A 4L > formerly known as B2 P58 I A4, an enterprise
wholly owned by J2["1%€ )% RZ B, the holding company of a non-controlling
shareholder of Dong Guan Dico Fashion Company Limited (“Dong Guan Dico”),
a subsidiary of the Company, (the “Renewed Agreement”) for leasing of factory
premises and staff quarters in the PRC. Pursuant to the terms of the Renewed
Agreement, the Group paid rental expenses of HK$198,000 to HZE T & [ &
B ZE WA BT A 4L during the year end 31st March, 2010. The Renewed
Agreement expired on 30th April, 2009.

The Group did not renew the Renewed Agreement as the Group terminated the
joint venture agreement entered into between the Group and HZET 2 M43
A2 ¥, a non-controlling shareholder of Dong Guan Dico, in relation to
establishment of Dong Guan Dico and the relevant supplemental joint venture
contracts and dissolved Dong Guan Dico on 15th December, 2009 upon the
completion of the necessary filings and approvals by the relevant authorities in
the PRC.

A loss on dissolution of HK$12,432,000 was recognised in the profit or loss upon
release of the translation reserve attributable to Dong Guan Dico for the year
ended 31st March, 2010.

31. Related Party Disclosures

The remuneration of executive directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

2011 2010

T#t T#o

HK$’ 000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 4,776 4,468
Post-employment benefits 60 60
Share-based payments 84 151
4,920 4,679

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the

remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and

market trends.
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32. Summarised Statement of Financial Position

Information of the Company

The summarised statement of financial position information of the Company at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Total assets (Note i)
Total liabilities

Net assets

Share capital
Reserves (Note ii)

Total equity

Notes:

(i)

Total assets include:
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

2011 2010
Tt T
HK$’000 HK$'000
512,598 410,532
(253,582) (272,191)
259,016 138,341
21,647 18,449
237,369 119,892
259,016 138,341
e i
2011 2010
Tt T
HK$’000 HK$’000
53,631 53,631
458,568 356,862
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Summarised Statement of Financial Position

Information of the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

At st April, 2009

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payments

Share options lapsed

Dividends recognised as distribution

At 31st March, 2010

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Issue of new shares on shares
placements

Transaction costs attributable to
issue of new shares

Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payments

Issue of shares on exercise of
share options

Dividends
- cash
- scrip alternative

At 31st March, 2011

T B

JBt i ¥ A MR Share pgeRiatl]
Share Contributed options Retained Gril
premium surplus reserve profits Total
T Tt Tl T Tl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
46,223 53,135 2,865 7,053 109,276
- - - 17,734 17,734
- - 981 - 981
- - (719) - (719
_ - - (7,380) (7,380)
46,223 53,135 3,127 17,407 119,892
- - - 37,744 37,744
82,700 - - - 82,700
(1,782) - - - (1,782)
- - 544 - 544
4,863 - (1,856) - 3,007
N - - (4,200) (4,200)
20,464 - - (21,000) (536)
152,468 53,135 1,815 29,951 237,369
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31st March, 2011

and 2010 were as follows:

A2 w) i
A BT
A&/ ak
C#fT R A A B A
BRMA Proportion of
At it/ AL M & A nominal value of
R L B Issued and issued capital/
Place of fully paid registered
W0 2 v 44 T incorporation/ share capital/ capital held FEEE
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital by the Company Principal activities
(Hita) (Witp)
(Note a) (Note b)
2011 2010

FARFEALAM AR F i 1,000,000% 76 100%  100% bt i B2 0 i % B

Colourmix Cosmetics Company Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Retailing of cosmetics
Limited & skin care products

Colourmix Cosmetics Retail i 100,000% 7 100%  100% ALtk it B2 7 % B
Company Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Retailing of cosmetics

& skin care products

PR TR B TR R il 13,000,000% G 100%  100% JRAR B
KRR RA AT (Hfitc)

Meko Fashion (Zhuhai-Macau Cross ~ PRC HK$13,000,000 Manufacturing of
Boarder Industrial Zone, Zhuhai) garments
Company Limited (Note ¢)

il S5 2 1 O i 20,000,0003 7t 100%  100% R R
HRAH (M) PRC HK$20,000,000 Manufacturing of

garments

il S ) 55 i A g 22,450,0003 7C 100%  100% WK FE R 3
BRA T (Hfitc) PRC HK$22,450,000 Retailing and wholesaling

of garments

iS5 SR A WA (M ) i 8,000,000% 1 100%  100% JR R

Shantou Yingko Fashion Company PRC HK$8,000,000 Manufacturing of

Limited (Note ¢

garments

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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33. EEME A FwE ()

W 2 W 4 1

Name of subsidiary

s S5 e R 2R B A (i)
Shantou Yungao Fashion Company
Limited (Note ¢)

Veeko Advertising Agency
Company Limited

B AT B A R

Veeko Fashion Company
Limited

Veeko Fashion Far East
Company Limited

Veeko Fashion (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

Veeko Holdings Limited

Veeko Manufacturing
Company Limited

iR
T
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

i
PRC

i
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

b ) gl
British Virgin
Islands

i34

Singapore

e JE R B
British Virgin
Islands

e i i LT B
British Virgin
Islands

33.
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Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

C#fTk
BRBA/

ik I & A

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

36,000,000% 76
HK$36,000,000

100 7C
HK$100

2,400,000% ¢
HK$2,400,000

1%70
Us$1

1,000,000357 in 3% 7&
SGD1,000,000
618.56357C

US$618.56

B
Uss1

A ] i

A C#T

Je A& ik
A A b
Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital/
registered
capital held

by the Company
(Hf#ta)

(Note a)

2011 2010
100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

- 100%
(Hitd)
(Note d)

FEEH
Principal activities
(Hfitb)

(Note b)

Manufacturing of
garments

BB R A

Provision of advertising
and promotional
services

AR

Retailing of garments

Retailing of garments
in Taiwan

WK% E

Retailing of garments

B

Investment holding

TRV A ARt
RS 5

Trading of fabrics and
garments in Macau




W 2 ) 4 1

Name of subsidiary

W B 5 (IR R
TR ) A A R

Veeko Trading (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Limited

Wina Success Limited
BRWMA WA R
Ying Choi Macau Company

Limited

H

B
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For the year ended 31st March, 2011 #
33. FHEME A 6 aE A (47) I 33.

Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

iR
T
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Hmr

Macau

il
Hong Kong

W

Macau

Notes:

a. A v \] B ¥ #5 B Veeko Holdings 2
Limited MYHESE » ESCHTR BT A H
b 25 A 2y B R

b. Br b EEEHE—MSHAHEN b
A iR B R R R

S HUBHEST o

c. RAFDZEHWAIIHRERE  C

2R -

d. A0 T A A A BERE AL

e O i 2 D TP AP R B N A ] B D 18

] 1 R E R B A R

BRI R R A N R L
VB S A T A A5 IR PR A 48 T R o S
B Vi Jag 2 ] o 3 = 2 2 1 i B Je 2

A ZFEE a4 R IR -

d.

C#fTk
BRBA/

ik I & A

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

10,0001 [*] #
MOP100,000
100¥ 70
HK$100

100,000 [ ¥
MOP100,000

A ] i
FHOBT

Je A& ik
A A b
Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital/
registered
capital held

by the Company
(Hf#ta)

(Note a)

2011 2010
100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

The company was dissolved during the year.

FEEH
Principal activities
(Htitb)

(Note b)

WA EH

Trading of garments

fHm*

Property holding

A R

Manufacturing of
garments

The Company directly holds the interest in Veeko Holdings Limited. All other
interests shown above are indirectly held by the Company.

The principal activities are carried out in place of incorporation/
establishment except as otherwise stated under principal activities above.

The companies are registered in the form of wholly foreign owned
enterprises.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of
the directors, principally affected the results of the Group for the year or formed
a substantial portion of the assets of the Group at the end of the year. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, resul
particulars of excessive length.
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34. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes secured bank
borrowings and obligation under a finance lease disclosed in notes 22 and 23
respectively, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associates with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

35. Financial Instruments

2011 2010
T#t T#L
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
(including cash and cash equivalents) 237,821 132,493
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 40,679 92,600

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
rental and utility deposits paid, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, deposits
and cash, trade and other payables, rental deposits received, secured bank
overdrafts, secured bank borrowings and obligation under a finance lease.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk (represented
by currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on

a timely and effective manner.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

35.

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales, purchases and secured bank borrowings, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, the group
entities are exposed to foreign currency risk attributable to
intra-group receivables and payables where the denomination
of the receivables and payables is in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The Group's currency risk is mainly attributable to the exposure
outstanding on receivables, payables and bank borrowings
denominated in RMB, HKD, USD, EUR and YEN. The carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

g3 £ 15

Assets Liabilities
2011 2010 2011 2010
T Tt T#T T-# 0
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
65,628 44 = 420
3,686 1,598 1,547 78,527
97 89 758 3,956
- - 396 849

= 13 2,720 -
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

35.

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

AR 2R
RMB impact

M
T

HK$' 000

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2010:
5%) increase and decrease in the functional currency of each
group entity against the relevant foreign currency. 5% (2010: 5%)
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes the Group’s outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, intra-group receivables and payables where the
denomination of the receivables and payables is in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2010: 5%)
increase in foreign currency rates. A (negative) positive number
below indicates (a decrease) an increase in post-tax profit for
the year where the functional currency of each group entity
strengthens 5% (2010: 5%) against the relevant foreign currency.
For a 5% (2010: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each
group entities against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

>4 1
HKD impact

EJ[v4 7 B4 7 . HEZRE S
USD impact EUR impact YEN impact

00 201 2010
T TEx  TEx
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

16 (89) 3

2011 w0 20M 00 201 2010
TEx  T#x  TEx  TER  Téx TEx
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

35.

Market risk (Continued)

(if)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank deposit (see note 19 for details of the balance).
The management monitors the fair value interest rate risk
exposure and considers it as insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate short-term bank deposits, bank
overdrafts and bank borrowings (see notes 20 and 22 for
details of these balances). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The exposure to the interest rate risk for
variable-rate bank deposits is insignificant.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate (“HIBOR") arising
from the Group’s HKD borrowings.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy in relation to fair value and cash flow interest rate risks.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure on
ongoing basis and will consider hedging significant interest rate
risk should the need arise.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

35.

Market risk (Continued)

(if)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2010: 50) basis point
increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2010: 50) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31st March, 2011 would decrease/increase by
HK$73,000 (2010: HK$255,000).
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35.

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and on a collective
basis at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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35. Financial Instruments (Continued)
I B) B £ B Liquidity risk
7 45 [ A BRAT A R AR A R The Group relies on bank borrowings as a major source of liquidity.
BB SR o B SRR B EE22 o Details of which are set out in note 22. As at 31st March, 2011, the
W_R——FE=ZH=1+—H & Group has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
LA W B R SR AT b E B HK$127,195,000 (2010: HK$68,291,000).
i %1127,195,000% 76 (= F — %
4F 1 68,291,000%7C) -
A A ] W e T A A B A R In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
JEZ B4 K B4 AT H KR maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
Ty A R 1] 8 A AR AL B SR AR B management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
SR Z B LSRR & of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
&R o 45 PR B e T SRAT AR of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
B2 NEDL o Sl DR S B R AR o
T A A% AR 1 kAT A b £ A The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for its non-
Aok ] N AN derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
Mg H TR A B T the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
AT RITBI &R AR e date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
iAo HAIERT A Sl f i 2 for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
BT H T PAR i 52 Sk H Ay B o repayment dates.
Db 3 A 4 ) R B AR 4 B 4 AL A The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
HR R L TR R RITH & H that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
Il 2 B A 3 A 2 )l A ) o from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
REF——4
kBBE =H=E1-H
TR A ZIRT
MEFHHE —~WANA Total Carrying
Weighted ~ Ondemand  —%=fH Z=MWAZE—% undiscounted amount
average  orlessthan 13 3 months R4 cash at
interest rate 1 month months to 1year 1-5 years flows 31.3.2011
Al T T i Tl Tl Tt
% HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000
I S 2011
Je A 4 L Non-derivative
financial liabilities
TER B 5 atE LA Trade and other payables
HEfF 3 - 20,018 2,588 - - 22,606 22,606
[ kR Rental deposits received - - 11 - - 11 il
RIMBITES Secured bank overdrafts 65 331 o - - 331 331
IR 5 Secured bank borrowings
-FE - variable rate 18 3,198 1,887 4219 8,093 17,397 17,057

& il SR

Obligation under a finance lease
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Jefin e & £ 0 Non-derivative
financial liabilities
TEA 5 53 sk B Al Trade and other payables
HEfF 35
[k Rental deposits received
RIMBITES Secured bank overdrafts
MBI 5 Secured bank borrowings
-8 - variable rate
b Obligation under a finance lease

£ A T 4 T BB 2 A S ML TS HAR
PrBUBL G B 4 AT 5 HB 4R A 2 5 A X
e
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8 A 2 4 il X < £ MR TG M B
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35. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

REZ-FE

A4 =A=+—H

HERPR i A Z IR

MEFHHE —~WANA Total Carrying
Weighted ~ Ondemand  —Z=fA Z=MWAZE—% undiscounted amount
average  orlessthan 13 3 months —ERAE cash at
interest rate 1 month months to 1year 1-5 years flows 31.3.2010
ARl T T T T T T

% HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS'000

- 26,193 3,841 - - 30,034 30,034

- - 285 300 - 585 585

6.3 26 - - - 26 26

18 1,752 46,266 3,484 10,362 61,864 61,030

83 27 53 239 743 1,062 925

27,998 50,445 4,023 11,105 93,571 92,600

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.
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Financial Summary UHHEE

B3 RESULTS
BE=A=1+—HIL&EE
Year ended 31st March,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
F¥on AR P T Tt T 0
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(EHEF)
(restated)
wmEH TURNOVER 642,287 754,224 789,644 886,335 1,111,421
% 5t i ¥ A PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 40,862 86,145 13,409 32,244 72,206
FlI5BE (B %) INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)
A CREDIT (3,901) (8,219) 4,607 (3,567) (5,470)
A B ¥ PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 36,961 77,926 18,016 28,677 66,736
& e B H ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
W=HA=+—H
At 31st March,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
T T F#oo F#on Tt
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(EHED) (HEHEH)
(restated) (restated)
R TOTAL ASSETS 370,335 490,892 509,472 551,369 645,681
LG =R TOTAL LIABILITIES (71,559) (118,487) (126,235) (136,904) (85,145)
il W s SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 298,776 372,405 383,237 414,465 560,536

Note:

Mgk mRAAFEEB T AEE
BBEEZRZUFE=ZA=1+—H
L =FREZ RPN ZERL
ERZBRNFEZA=Z1T—HZ
A SRR A I 08 BRI A I R
FoF S8 2 ot S 1B SR - W VAT BT

B o

The results for each of the 3 years ended 31st March, 2009 and the assets and
liabilities as at 31st March 2007 and 2008 have not been restated as a result
of the change in accounting policy set out in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements as the directors of the Company consider it is not
meaningful to do so.




ummary of Investment Properties IREYFEHE

AEER =T FZA =+ HRE
YSEMFES T

LZES

T 0T AR R PR
192-200%% & Afiy 1 .0

T SHEATR Y ~ 1A A
L24%% M oM L ALP65 5% I P68

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties, at 31st March, 2011 are as

follows:

AL
Properties Term of lease
Portion A of 15th Floor, v 1

Lorry Space No. L24 Medium-term
on 1st Floor and Parking Spaces

No. P65 and No. P68 on 2nd Floor,

Wyler Centre Phase Il

192 - 200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

M &

Purpose

T%

Industrial

V EEKO"INFRERNAT[IONAINHOLDINGS LIMITED
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